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Case 1 – Anna 

1.0 Brief Background  

1.1 Anna was known to CSC from a very young age and suffered severe abuse and 

neglect and multiple adverse childhood experiences. She also had caring 

responsibilities for her mother who had severe mental health problems and for her 

sibling who had complex needs. She was the subject of Child Protection Plans 

several times during her childhood.  She moved between different households, 

mother, father, grandparents, family friends, as relationships broke down and her 

mother became increasingly unable to provide safe care.  

1.2 In 2002, when Anna was aged 14 her mother expressed concerns about possible 

CSE. Anna was referred to a specialist project “Streets and Lanes” (SALS) which 

was a service for children abused through prostitution.  In December 2002 Anna was 

placed in residential care and frequently went missing from the placement. In 

January 2003 Anna is recorded as having an Asian “boyfriend” who is variously 

recorded as between being 18 and 27.  At this time Anna was said to have begun 

following the Islamic religion.  

1.3 Throughout the time Anna was being supported by the SALS project she made 

frequent disclosures of sexual abuse and coercion, including rape, when missing 

from the residential unit (she went missing on more than 70 occasions).   At that time, 

SALS’ policies offered service users complete confidentiality, and this meant none of 

this information was shared with police or CSC. She also told SALS that she was 

being subjected to assaults which were referred to as domestic abuse though she 

was still a child under the age of 16.   

1.4 In June 2003 a looked after children (LAC) review took place and it is recorded that 

Anna “is “engaged” to her boyfriend and has converted to Islam. Her boyfriend 

attends the review. IRO records that his being invited to the review “is an 

acknowledgment of the significance of the relationship”. 

1.5 In July 2003 Anna (now aged 15) told the SALS worker that she had married her 

Asian “boyfriend” in an Islamic ceremony.  It appears that there was collusion with 

this by her Children’s Social Care (CSC) social worker who allegedly attended the 

ceremony and assessed that her marriage was likely to reduce the risks incurred 

when Anna was missing.   

1.6 In the December 2003 Looked After Child Care Review, it is recorded that Anna is 

pregnant and wishing to be fostered with the family of the man referred to as her 

“husband “.  The review records this as unacceptable but within days she was 

“placed” with the family as a foster child, and they were paid a fostering allowance 

though there is no record of any assessment or approval process.  It is hard to 

understand how this decision can have been made and it resulted in Anna being 

entirely reliant on her abuser and his family. Anna reported significant restriction of 

her freedoms by the family which would today be seen as coercive control.  She also 

reported further assaults from her “husband”.  These were not passed on to CSC. 

1.7 Anna moved to a bedsit and then to a rented house in 2004 and her baby was born 

while she was living there, although her “foster mother” is recorded as having been 
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present at the birth. Shortly after this Anna reported that her “husband” had forged 

papers in order to get a passport for the baby and was threatening to take the baby 

abroad. In the following months her residence is unclear from records, and she 

seems to have moved in and out of placements as the nature of her relationships 

fluctuated.   

1.8 In December 2004 Anna was taken to a refuge following an assault by her “husband” 

– at this point she was still a looked after child.  By February 2005 Anna was 

pregnant again.    

1.9 What we do not see in the agency chronologies is, that during the time Anna was in 

care, she was being sexually abused and exploited by dozens of adult males, some 

of whom were known to her “boyfriend/husband”. More than 20 arrests have been 

made connected to the investigation of Anna’s abuse and investigations continue.  

1.10 multi-agency working, and the placements provided did not keep her safe. 

2.0 Key practice episodes and other events 

2.1 In 2000 Anna and her sibling were made subject of Child Protection Plans (CPPs).  

By 2002 the children had been on a CPP for two years and in June 2002 a new 

Social Worker (SW) was allocated to the family and Anna was extremely hostile 

towards her. The root cause of this hostility was not explored, and a decision was 

made at a Child Protection (CP) review conference to remove Anna from the CPP 

because the SW could not work with her. This was recorded as Anna “refused to 

work or cooperate with Social Care and on a number of occasions has or attempted 

to assault the Social Worker. Anna does not however, seem to have such a problem 

with other workers”. 

2.2 In July 2002 Anna’s mother reported to CSC that her daughter was getting into cars 

with boys and staying out all night. And in August 2002 a CSC recording states, 

“Concerns that Anna is getting involved in prostitution, and this is with the 

encouragement of Mother”. There is no information describing what happened as a 

result of this, but it did not trigger S47 enquiries. Anna was aged 14 at this point. 

2.3 The decision made in June 2002 to remove Anna from the CPP was challenged by 

Education Bradford and the Safeguarding Unit and overturned at a CP Review 

Conference in September 2002. It was noted at the review that Anna was “at risk of 

third-party abuse”.  

2.4 It was also recorded that Anna and her sibling were living in appalling and unsafe 

conditions with their mother. Animals were removed from the home by the RSPCC as 

they were not being fed and cared for. 

2.5 Also, in September 2002 the case was allocated to a new social worker and the 

transfer notes state that a referral to CAMHS is to be made for Anna and a referral to 

the Streets and Lanes Project’ (SALS) because Anna was ‘placing herself at risk of 

3rd party abuse’. SALS began to support Anna in November 2002. The SALS project 

was established in 1994 as a partnership between the local authority, education, 

health and Barnardo’s, initially with staff seconded in to the Barnardo’s team. This 

was one of the first, if not the first, specialist projects of its type in the country. 
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However, it would appear from reviewing the record that in reality much of the 

project’s work at that time was undertaken in isolation from social workers and police. 

2.6 By December 2002 CSC were seeking a long-term placement for Anna. It is not clear 

from the records why this was not considered earlier and on 18th December she was 

subject of an Interim Care. A placement was available at **** which is where Anna 

was placed.  

2.7 Anna frequently went missing from the placement. 

2.8 Anna engaged with SALS and told them that she was having unprotected sex and 

that she might be pregnant. SALS noted that she was vulnerable to being abused 

through prostitution. 

2.9 Throughout the significant engagement with SALS Anna made frequent disclosures 

about the sexual abuse, coercion and control she was experiencing. At that time 

SALS policy, which had been developed in partnership with the local authority, was 

that they did not share information with other agencies as they offered young people 

total confidentiality. 

2.10 By January 2003 it was noted by SALS and CSC that Anna “has been following the 

Islamic religion and has an Asian boyfriend. So, whilst Anna is comfortable with her 

own ethnic and racial background, she is leaning towards the Asian culture, due to 

her Asian boyfriend and the community in which she is living”.  

2.11 It was also recorded by CSC that Anna “likes to take herself off to Keighley and 

Haworth regularly. Staff (at the placement) not sure who she is mixing with whilst at 

either the above-mentioned places in Bradford”. 

2.12 On 12th February 2003 a police record made in response to a missing from home 

report states “Anna and (one other) went off in a taxi -maybe at ***** taxi (company). 

Her boyfriend a 27yr old works there”. Anna was aged 14. 

2.13 On 13th February 2003 Anna returned to the placement and reported that someone 

had tried to rape her. She told the police at that time that “she has a boyfriend who 

she says is 18 years old, works as a taxi controller and has a child to a previous 

relationship, and which Anna describes the mother of the child as a prostitute” It was 

also recorded that the ‘boyfriend’ was a suspected crack cocaine user/ dealer. WYP 

records do not show what investigations into the allegation of attempted rape took 

place beyond the initial interview with Anna. 

2.14 On 27th February 2003 a decision was made to find an out of area foster placement 

for Anna. By this point she had gone missing from the placement at least 16 times. 

2.15 On 11th March 2003 a WYP intelligence log following Anna going missing records 

that “Anna and second 14-year-old girl, residents of the placement were picked up 

outside their home by three youths driving (deleted). They were driven to an 

unoccupied semi derelict house at (deleted). Inside the house which is undecorated 

and unfurnished but has old arm chairs and settees on the ground floor living room 

they met up with a further group of males. Alcohol was consumed by all present 

whereupon part of the group attempted to undress Anna and 2nd girl against their 

will. They fought their way out of the house whereupon Anna called the police. 
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Although Anna is 14, she appears younger, in contrast 2nd girl who looks older. 

There are concerns about the girl’s sexual activities and in particular that they are 

being groomed for prostitution. The girls have refused to give any formal account of 

the above to police. Anna knows a male believed to be called (deleted) who is a co-

owner with his uncle of (deleted taxi firm). (Deleted) is believed to be about 30 years 

of age and Anna refers to him as her boyfriend, but it is believed that he is her 

'pimp'”. This information was not shared with CSC or other partners. 

2.16 Throughout April and May 2003 Anna, who was then aged 15, went missing; on one 

occasion for several days at a time. She told her support worker at SALS that she 

had “got a house with her boyfriend but had left him when he beat her up”. 

2.17 On 22nd May 2003 Anna told her SALS worker that her “boyfriend was now in prison 

and that his brother now had responsibility for looking after her”. The worker noted 

that Anna was still very dependent on boyfriend’s family and had informed her that 

she wanted to cease taking contraception as she would like a baby when she is 16. 

2.18 In June 2003 a LAC Review took place and it is recorded that Anna “is “engaged” to 

the boyfriend and has converted to Islam. The boyfriend attends the review. The IRO 

records that his being invited to the review “is an acknowledgment of the significance 

of the relationship”. 

2.19 On 10th July 2003 Anna told staff at the placement and a SALS worker that she was 

now married to her Asian boyfriend. SALS records state “Discussed her “Muslim 

marriage” to her boyfriend who she said was in Pakistan for a month. She said that 

he was invited to her review and that his mother was being considered as a foster 

carer although the boyfriend would not be allowed to live at the same address. 

Discussed what living there would be like – Anna said she knew she would be 

expected to clean up all day, and that this “wasn’t her.” It was noted that her 

‘boyfriend’ was aged 22. It was at this time that Anna was recorded as wearing “full 

Muslim dress”. 

2.20 On 29th August 2003 Anna had been missing from the placement for 18 days and is 

recorded by CSC as having “telephoned a helpline claiming that she has been held 

against her will. Anna would not provide an address”. There is no further detail 

provided about the helpline. 

2.21 On 19th September Anna returned briefly to the placement but left in her ‘boyfriend’s’ 

car. WYP logged this information and knew who the adult ‘boyfriend’ was, but the 

information was not shared or used to safeguard Anna. 

2.22 On 3rd October 2003 when Anna was still aged 15, a strategy meeting was held and 

attended by WYP and CSC. The meeting was held because Anna had, at that time, 

been missing from the placement for 8 weeks and was refusing to return stating that 

she wanted to move in with her ‘boyfriend’. 

2.23 The strategy meeting discussed that Anna has “advised that she has had a Nikah” 

(marriage ceremony). The Nikah is said to have taken place at the end of 

June/beginning of July this year. There are concerns around Anna’s confused 

identity. Social Care are not of the view that they can promote the placement with her 

‘boyfriend’ However Anna had also stated that she would like to live with her 
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‘boyfriend`s` parents’ The strategy meeting records state “This could possibly be 

given some further consideration/assessment. Anna stated that she would like to live 

with Foster Carers, but if made to return to ***** House, she will continue to 

abscond”.   

2.24 On 6th October a CSC ‘contact’ recording states Anna “wants to go and live with 21-

year-old boyfriend. Arguably will be less at risk there than being 'missing' or resident 

at **** House - but is subject to care order. Senior management view needs to be 

sought - difficult to see how SS could 'approve' of the arrangement - but may be 

possible not to try too hard to return her to **** House (but placement may need to be 

kept nominally open)”. 

2.25 In November 2003 two SALs workers visited Anna at the placement (she had, by this 

point been reported as missing over seventy times) Anna informed them that she had 

just found out she was pregnant and that she had been trying to get pregnant for four 

months. Anna said that her boyfriend did not like her accessing SALS as it was for 

“prostitutes.” Anna gave staff her ‘boyfriend’s’ mobile number so they could contact 

her on that number to arrange individual sessions. 

2.26 At a LAC Review in December 2003 the attendees noted that “It has not been 

possible to achieve Anna’s view of being placed with foster carers. Respite carers 

were offered but she has refused this. It is known that Anna regards herself as 

married and wishes to live with him. She is aware that this is not acceptable as she is 

only 15 years old and too young for such an arrangement. Anna is expecting a child 

in August and clearly will have to be regarded not only as a looked after child but a 

young parent. Anna has taken an overdose since the last review and was discharged 

without any significant harm. She was offered an appointment with CAMHS but 

declined this. Anna’s placement with ***** House to continue. A further placement to 

be found for where she can remain until her 16th Birthday and be able to make clear 

choices about her future”.  

2.27 There is nothing in CSC records to show what assessment of Anna’s ‘boyfriend’s’ 

parents took place. However, within days of the placement which commenced in 

December 2003, SALs workers recorded their concerns that Anna was not allowed 

out of the house unaccompanied and sometimes not at all. It is of note that a 

condition of the placement was that Anna had her own bedroom and no sexual 

contact was to take place between her and the ‘boyfriend’ however Anna was already 

pregnant. When she was in the first trimester of her pregnancy Anna was badly 

assaulted by her ‘husband’ and suffered a severe head injury. She was taken to the 

ED by paramedics. Anna later reported the assault to the police as a hate related 

crime as she was too afraid of the consequences to report that it was her ‘husband’ 

who had injured her. 

2.28 In January 2004 at a placement review CSC record that “Anna (now known as ****) 

moved in with her boyfriend and his family in early December 2003. Father-in-Law 

has advised that the placement was difficult at first as there was a lot of cultural and 

behavioural differences. There was a great deal of confrontation between his son and 

Anna.  The placement is more settled that they are both aware of the expectations. 

The consent was provided by the boyfriends’ parents for the marriage ceremony. 

Social Care have not given consent for this due to Anna’s age. Anna to remain the 
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current placement. Student social worker will undertake a family and friend’s 

assessment and present to Fostering Panel” Anna’s SW however attended the Nikah 

wedding ceremony and referred thereafter to her ‘husband’ and ‘mother and father-

in-law’.  

2.29 Also in January 2004 Anna booked for her maternity care. She was 15 years old, and 

her maternity records show that she described herself as married and living in foster 

care/ with her ‘in-laws’. This did not trigger any safeguarding concerns from maternity 

staff. 

2.30 In February 2004 Anna contacted SALS and described that she was unhappy. She 

was not allowed to go out; was made to cook and clean, was not allowed to attend 

the GP or an education placement. Anna also said that she had no confidence in her 

male social worker who talked in Urdu to her ‘father-in-law’ and excluded her from 

the conversation. Anna also stated several times that she would not be able to speak 

openly in front of her ‘husband’ or her ‘father-in law’. The SAL’s worker attempted to 

speak to SW1 who was on leave and then to a manager (no-one was available). She 

then spoke to the duty social worker SW2 and expressed concerns about Anna`s 

allegations. The SALs worker did not escalate her concerns about this or about SW1. 

2.31 In March 2004 Anna twice told a SAL’s worker that her ‘husband’ had hit her on 

several occasions. This did not trigger a safeguarding response in respect of Anna 

who was still a child or in respect of her unborn baby.  

2.32 Throughout the period of time Anna lived with her ‘boyfriend’s’ family (they were paid 

as foster carers) she reported mal-treatment, extremely controlling and isolating 

behaviour and domestic abuse. This was observed by practitioners from SALs and 

by CSC. SALs practitioners attempted to raise concerns about the safety of the 

placement with CSC however when these attempts were unsuccessful, they did not 

formally escalate their concerns. By April 2004 the placement had begun to break 

down and Anna was ‘thrown out’ by her ‘boyfriend’s’ parents.  

2.33 Anna stayed in contact with the SALs service and on 20th April 2004 they informed 

CSC that the placement had broken down and that Anna was now living in a bedsit. 

2.34 A professionals meeting was held on 27th April, and it appears that Anna was by 

then believed to have returned to the placement (she had not) and discussions 

focused on her pregnancy. Information was not shared by SALs about the domestic 

abuse. 

2.35 Throughout the rest of Anna’s pregnancy and whilst she was still a looked after child 

she lived in a bedsit (which had shared bathroom facilities). The news that her 

unborn baby would be subject to a pre-birth assessment prompted Anna to find 

alternative accommodation suitable for herself and the unborn child. Funding was 

provided by CSC however no assessment of the property took place and Anna 

described to the independent reviewer that the bedsit was infested with mice and 

was not suitable for a pregnant 15-year-old child. Anna found a suitable house within 

weeks. Funds were provided by CSC and whilst no initial vetting of the property took 

place the independent living service intervened and provided Anna with help with her 

tenancy and vetting was carried out and the property was deemed suitable. 
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2.36 In late June 2004 Anna gave birth prematurely at 35 weeks.  She was isolated and 

very anxious and her ‘foster mother’ was present when she gave birth. Following the 

baby’s birth Anna remained very anxious that CSC would remove the baby or that 

her ‘boyfriend’ would take the baby from her and leave the baby with his parents. 

Anna also informed the SALs worker that her ‘boyfriend’ was threatening to get a 

passport for the baby and take the child abroad. 

2.37 Anna remained in contact with the SALs workers throughout this postnatal period. 

2.38 CSC carried out a home visit in September 2004 and recorded that Anna and baby 

were doing well and there were no concerns. At a home visit in December 2004 Anna 

told her SW that she and her ‘boyfriend’ had split up.  

2.39 Later in December 2004 Anna was assaulted by her ‘boyfriend’ and her social worker 

took her and the baby to a women’s refuge. At this point in time Anna was still a 

looked after child and there is no information in CSC records to explain why she was 

taken to a refuge rather than more appropriate accommodation.  

2.40 On 29th December CSC record that Anna has returned ‘home’ and that the 

‘boyfriend’ is visiting the baby but Anna states that they are not back together. There 

is no information to suggest that an assessment of risk to Anna and the baby took 

place. 

2.41 On 4th February 2005 Anna attended a GP appointment. She was pregnant again. At 

this point in time, she was 16 years old and still a looked after child. 

2.42 On 3rd March at 16 weeks pregnant Anna attended the hospital to book her 

maternity care.   

2.43 On 22nd March Anna told a SALs worker that she had not yet disclosed her 

pregnancy to SW3 and that she had denied to her midwife that she had a social 

worker.  

2.44 Later in March 2005 there are conflicting notes in CSC records indicating that Anna 

has her own tenancy and ‘is doing well’ but then referring to a foster placement and 

Anna wanting to change foster carers. It is not clear if the foster placement was her 

‘boyfriends’ parents. 

2.45 In May 2005 Anna contacted the SALs project in a distressed state. She had found a 

letter indicating that her ‘boyfriend’ was applying for a passport for the baby to take 

him out of the country. Anna stated that she was frightened of her ‘boyfriend’ but did 

not wish to leave the house, so options were discussed with her regarding support 

via a domestic abuse project and gaining an injunction. Anna had contacted the 

police regarding her boyfriend’s forgery of her signature on the passport application 

but had decided not to take it further as she was frightened about how he would 

react. Anna was still a looked after child at this point in time and it is not clear from 

the records that the SALs worker shared this information with CSC. 

2.46 Throughout this period CSC records indicate that Anna and the baby were doing well 

and there were no concerns about the unborn baby or concerns following the birth. 
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2.47 On 13th November 2005 Anna called the police as her ‘boyfriend’ had assaulted her. 

The police logged the incident as a domestic abuse incident but did not share 

information with CSC. 

2.48 In November 2005 Anna attended her GP practice with concerns that she had 

postnatal depression. She told the Advanced Nurse Practitioner (ANP) that she has 

‘problems at home, separated from husband’, ‘living alone’ and ‘loss of contact with 

her own family’. Eldest child being cared for by husband who has gone back to live 

with his family. Appointment made with counsellor, follow up as needed at 3 weeks 

and advised to also contact Health visitor.” It is not clear from agency records that the 

ANP knew that Anna was a looked after child. 

2.50 On 3rd May 2006 the police were called to a further domestic abuse incident by 

Anna. Again, no referral to CSC was made in respect of Anna who was under the 

age of 18 or in respect of her two children. 

2.51 Anna reached 18 years of age in July 2006. 

2.52 Following her courageous decision to come forward more than 20 arrests have been 

made in connection to the investigation of Anna’s abuse. 

3.0 Key Themes Anna 

3.1 Anna experienced severe neglect and abuse from a very young age.  She was 

affected by severe parental mental illness and significant domestic abuse. She was 

subject to child protection arrangements on several occasions and finally came into 

the care of the local authority when she was aged 14. 

3.2 As she came into care it is likely that Anna was already being sexually exploited. This 

escalated very rapidly and within a very short period of time she was being groomed, 

exploited and sexually abused by adult males. 

3.3 Anna’s placement at the residential children’s home in Bradford did not keep her 

safe. She went missing frequently (over seventy times) and the staff there were 

aware that she was getting into cars with males including the male they referred to as 

her ‘boyfriend’. (This male was referred to as her ‘boyfriend’ and then later as her 

‘husband’ by other professionals CSC, police, and health agencies).  

3.4 It is apparent from conversations with Anna and from information contained in 

agency chronologies that the local authority did not reflect what was happening to her 

in terms of sexual abuse and exploitation. 

3.5 It was whilst she was still living in the residential placement that Anna began to wear 

full Muslim dress and told CSC that she had been married to the adult male 

‘boyfriend’ in a Nikah ceremony. (Nikah is a Muslim wedding at which the bride does 

not have to be present as long as she sends two witnesses to the drawn-up 

agreement). Anna was aged 15. 

3.6 The willingness of some professionals to legitimise this wedding is clear from agency 

records. The adult male was thereafter referred to by professionals as her ‘husband’ 

and his parents as her ‘mother-in-law’ and ‘father in law’. The ‘Nikah’ marriage far 

from being challenged and perceived as coercive or exploitative was accepted and 

Anna’s social worker at that time attended the ceremony.  
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3.7 The decision to consider and approve a fostering placement with the adult male’s 

parents is difficult to understand. The adult male was her abuser. It was also clear 

that she was not regarded with respect and affection by her abuser’s family. In fact, 

they were also controlling and abusing her. 

3.8 The review Panel members discussed the placement of Anna with her abuser’s 

family at length. This placement did not protect Anna from harm but did in fact place 

her at greater risk and made her entirely dependent on them. Whilst in the ‘care’ of 

these adults she was subjected to further sexual abuse and exploitation, domestic 

abuse including assaults and coercion and what we would now recognise as 

domestic slavery during the time she lived there. 

3.9 Anna told the SALs project about her difficulties concerning her Asian male social 

worker when she was living in her abuser’s home. Although the SALs worker 

attempted to contact a SW manager about this her attempts were unsuccessful, and 

she did not formally escalate her concerns and Anna’s situation did not improve. 

3.10 Once she had become a mother herself Anna she continued to be subjected to 

several further assaults and abuse by the adult male. The way in which agencies; 

including CSC, the police and the SALs project responded to this was poor and did 

not protect Anna or her very young children from further harm. Anna was still a 

looked after child herself at this point in time.  

3.11 In summary, when Anna came into the care of the local authority, she had already 

suffered neglect and abuse and lived with the impact of domestic abuse and parental 

mental illness. As Anna came into care she was already being sexually exploited and 

within weeks this had escalated. Anna experienced ongoing sexual abuse, sexual 

exploitation, domestic abuse and possible domestic slavery whilst in the care of the 

local authority. 

3.12 What we do not see recorded in agency chronologies is that during the time she was 

in the care of the Local Authority Anna has described to the independent reviewer 

that she was being sexually abused and exploited by dozens of adult males some of 

whom were known to her ‘boyfriend’.  

3.13 Anna was described as a bright child by her primary school but did not receive any 

consistent education after the age of thirteen. There is little information in agency 

records to suggest that plans were put in place to address this.  

3.14 In conversation with the independent reviewer, Anna was able to describe the 

ongoing impact of the trauma and abuse she experienced and the effect that this 

continues to have on her mental health and emotional wellbeing. She says: 

3.15 “Numerous social services assessments were carried out throughout my very early 

years from the authorities with a “being at risk’’ noted but nothing ever acted on, and I 

was failed for more than two decades. My needs as a child were not met my 

education was non-existent throughout my teenage years. From around 12 years old 

it was apparent to social services I was absconding from home and was being 

trafficked all-over west Yorkshire. I was at great harm however they allowed me to 

continually be subject to sexual, physical, and emotional abuse and psychological 

abuse and harm. Safeguarding risk assessments were carried out and acknowledged 
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that I was being sexually abused by grooming on a large scale. Recommendations 

were put forward at various strategy meetings to remove myself as I was at escalated 

risk from sexual perpetrators and to be placed into a secure unit or foster carers 

away from the area, but recommendations were ignored time and time again. I was 

regularly missing for numerous weeks at a time with no sightings, and no contact 

from myself. Social services and the police did nothing to locate me this could have 

ended in a homicide case as I was suffering from severe domestic violence. I was co-

dependent from being 13 and I was psychologically suffering throughout my teenage 

years, but no intervention was offered. I was a minor, unstable as well as unable, as 

any child is to make the correct choices which were life changing decisions these 

have had a major impact on my life. I was 15, but the authorities thought it was in the 

best interest and to minimise the severity of my absconding and placed me in a foster 

care placement while being fully aware with the parents of my abuser. We had no 

similarities in race, religion or culture and I continued be subject to domestic violence 

and was subject to a coercive controlling sexual relationship with a known 

perpetrator. I was frightened to leave, in fear of an honour-based killing. At 14 years 

old I was engaged to be married, taking on the role of an Islamic wife fulfilling the 

needs of my husband and the extended family somewhat like a maid. I was identified 

as a vulnerable and naïve child converting to Islam wasn’t a case of wanting to 

embrace Islam for my own individual choices. I was manipulated and controlled while 

I was on a local authority care order the authorities should have protected me 

however they allowed abuse to occur for numerous years. Resulting in living a life of 

dual identity despite only being 15. The local the authorities allowed and witnessed a 

sharia law Nikah wedding to take place allowing a man to carry out sexual activity on 

a child to occur on a daily basis which is illegal. 

If only the authorities had done what was recommend for me, the secure unit or 

accommodation. I wouldn’t have been subject to sexually and physical abuse for 

many years. And because I wasn’t looked after as a child should have been under a 

local authority care order. Contact arrangements with parents was minimal bonds 

were damaged with close family which can now never be rectified. I'm left with my 

adult years to educate and work on my mental health state of mind and coming to 

terms with the realisation I will always be in recovery. I'm not in control of my anxiety 

and only feel at ease with my nerves, when I'm in another county living a life that 

nobody knows who I am or what I’ve been subject too. Throughout my late adult 

years, I’ve had a significant number of disturbing dysfunctional relationships as I’ve 

not healed as a victim of child sexual exploitation and physical abuse. 

I've found courage and been courageous in coming forward and I sincerely hope 

other victims will speak out about their child sexual abuse”.  

Case 2- Fiona  

4.0 Brief Background 

4.1 Fiona has waived her anonymity for the purposes of this review and has made 

several public statements about her experiences. In February 2019 nine perpetrators 

in Fiona’s case were convicted of 22 offences including rape and inciting child 

prostitution.  
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4.2 Early records include references to concerns about possible abuse of Fiona as a very 

young child.  Though raised by a health professional at the time these do not appear 

to have been followed up. 

 

4.3 From around 2006, when Fiona was aged 12 Fiona began to show significant levels 

of distress at her home circumstances and relationships.  There was domestic abuse 

(mostly verbal) between her and her mother and between mother and mother’s 

partner.  Fiona frequently went missing and in the early days stayed with her 

grandparents, but they came to a point where they felt they could not continue.  She 

also went to friends who were subsequently described by the police as “unsuitable”.  

Family expressed concern about possible sexual exploitation, but this was not 

investigated at the time.  

 

4.4 In 2008 Fiona was admitted to care.  She had numerous placement moves, including 

some in unregulated settings, and was clearly expressing her distress, both explicitly 

and through self-harm.  Her behaviour was, at times aggressive and she was 

convicted of an assault on a member of staff.  In all her placements she went 

missing.  

 

4.5 Fiona gave birth in 2009 and she was placed with the baby in a mother and baby 

home.  The placement broke down, she returned to her mother’s, but this also broke 

down and she left, leaving the baby with her mother.  Her baby was subsequently 

adopted. 

 

4.6 There were frequent indicators that Fiona was being sexually exploited and often 

also physically assaulted but it was not until 2010/11 that she was referred to the 

Barnardo’s Turnaround project.  Fiona continued to be sexually exploited and abused 

throughout the remainder of her childhood. 

 

5.0 Key events and other issues 

5.1 In 2006 Fiona, aged 12, was assaulted by her mother who described Fiona’s 

behaviour as ‘difficult’. Fiona went to stay with her grandmother. There was no 

exploration of the ‘difficult’ behaviour and when this had started.  Her mother had 

been formally diagnosed with depression and sleep deprivation but there is no record 

of what support was put in place. Later in the year Fiona was excluded from school 

for threatening behaviour. There appears to have been no exploration of why Fiona’s 

behaviour was threatening. 

 

5.2 Although her family were expressing concerns about possible sexual exploitation 

these were not investigated and Fiona frequently went missing.  There were incidents 

of verbal domestic abuse between Fiona and her mother and of Fiona refusing to 

return home.  It is of note that a verbal domestic abuse incident was recorded 

between Fiona’s mother and her partner in March 2007. By this point in time 

agencies knew that Fiona and her sibling had been experiencing domestic abuse for 

at least eight years. 
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5.3 Fiona went missing again in January 2008 and the police records for this state 

“Missing person is a rather bright student who up until the past few months has been 

getting good grades and was expected to do well. The missing person fell out with 

her mum and went to live with her grandma, this was because the missing person 

found her parents looking at her diary as they were concerned about her. The 

parents have frequently found telephone numbers of Asian males on scraps of paper 

in the missing person’s bedroom. They have grave concerns after recent media 

attention to the grooming of young girls”.    

         

5.4 The entry also notes that a friend of Fiona’s had stated that Fiona may not have gone 

home as she had been permanently excluded from school. 

 

5.5 The possibility that Fiona was being groomed or sexually exploited and abused was 

not investigated or explored by agencies at this point. 

 

5.6 Fiona again went missing in February 2008 and would not say where she had been. 

She was also admitted to Bradford Royal Infirmary with superficial scratches to both 

wrists but was discharged. There is no record of any CAMHS assessment. 

 

5.7 Throughout the first three weeks of February 2008 Fiona stayed at the home of a 

friend. Fiona’s mother tried to persuade Fiona to return home. Eventually the friend 

asked Fiona to leave, and Fiona again went missing. 

 

5.8 On 19th February she was made subject of a Public Protection Order (PPO) on the 

grounds that she was going missing repeatedly. At this point Fiona stated that she 

did not want to return to her mother’s as she did not get on with her stepfather. Fiona 

was placed in crisis care. 

 

5.9 On 20th February 2008 a multi-agency meeting took place at Fiona’s school. It is 

recorded that “Fiona refused to return to mum’s care saying no-one was listening to 

her, she refused to return home as she reports she could not sleep She spoke of 

being stressed - losing weight and hair falling out and that she could not return home 

as she cannot sleep as all she can think about is her mum slitting her wrists, blood 

over the television and fighting.  Fiona agreed to speak with Dr *** from CAMHS who 

had just arrived.  Fiona then said that her step father had hit her a couple of weeks 

ago on her arms at her friend’s house when her mum and him tried to make her 

come home.  She showed us her arms and there were faint marks on them.  She 

said she could not go back to the house because he would do it again”. 

 

5.10 Dr **** from CAMHS confirmed that Fiona’s low mood and distress were due to her 

home circumstances, and she would be likely to self-harm if made to return home. 

 

5.11 Because of her disclosure about physical abuse a S47 enquiry was deemed 

appropriate however there are no records available to confirm whether or not this 

took place. 

 

5.12 On 22nd February 2008 Fiona went missing again.  A crisis carer was identified for 

over the weekend when she was located.  
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5.13 Fiona was found at her friend’s house. Fiona was getting distressed as she had been 

to three crisis carer’s in the matter of a few days.  The friend was willing to keep 

Fiona on a temporary basis. Fiona advised if she was taken to another crisis carer’s 

she would just run off. 

 

5.14 The PPO had now come to end, and CSC had no legal orders in place or 

accommodation agreement, therefore Fiona’s mother still had full parental 

responsibility and she was refusing to allow Fiona to stay at the friends.  

 

5.15 On 25th February Fiona was arrested for breach of the peace after refusing to return 

to her mother’s address from the friend’s house. 

 

5.16 Also on 25th February Fiona was seen in school by a CAMHS worker who shared 

information with CSC that Fiona presented as very distressed and tearful due to her 

home environment. 

 

5.17 On 4th March 2008 a meeting took place between Fiona’s allocated social worker 

and a police officer. The police insisted that Fiona must not be at the property of her 

friends as it wasn’t appropriate due to the environment and the concerns the police 

had about the family.  It was recorded that if Fiona is found to be at **** she must be 

removed by the police and returned home. There is no information in CSC records to 

detail what the concerns about Fiona’s friend’s family were or how these informed 

risk assessments and other plans for Fiona. 

 

5.18 On 4th March 2008 Fiona was admitted to hospital having self- harmed as a reaction 

being told she had to return to her mother’s home. Two days later Fiona moved into a 

children’s residential home under Section 20 of the Children Act. 

 

5.19 On 7th March Fiona was visited at the children’s home by a CAMHS worker. Fiona 

was unwell with a throat infection and a broken rib. The CAMHS worker noted that 

Fiona did not seem to care about her health. There was no record of a discussion 

about how Fiona had broken her rib and any possible assault or abuse. 

 

5.20 On 9th March a police record indicates that a reviewing officer described Fiona as 

‘street wise’. 

 

5.21 Throughout March 2008 Fiona again went missing from the children’s home and was 

distressed and agitated when she returned. She talked to a member of staff about 

using drugs. 

 

5.22 On 21st March Fiona was again arrested. She was on the street and was very drunk. 

She spat at a special constable and admitted that she had drunk 1.5 litres of vodka 

before the police arrived. Fiona was aged 14 at this point. Fiona continued to go 

missing from the children’s home. No formal ‘missing from home’ interviews and no 

CSE risk assessment took place. 
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5.23 On 29th March 2008 Fiona’s mother rang CSC to say she wanted her daughter to 

return home. She stated that she feels Fiona is at more risk at the residential home 

than she would be at home as there are no restriction on Fiona leaving the 

establishment. 

 

5.24 On 3rd April 2008 a LAC review took place, and it was recorded that Fiona would 

move to a different children’s home (still under Section 20 arrangements). By this 

time Fiona had experienced several moves between her mother`s, her friend`s, crisis 

placements and residential children’s homes. 

 

5.25 Fiona wrote a letter to be read by the professionals at the review meeting. It was a 

clear and very powerful description of how the trauma and loss Fiona had 

experienced continued to impact upon her. In the letter she states that everything 

changed for her family when her stepfather began to abuse her mother. 

 

5.26 Fiona said that “she worries about being sent home, people thinking she is pregnant, 

not seeing her sister, who her real dad is, not being able to sleep properly, worrying 

about returning to school and failing her GCSE’s, feeling unwell, remembering things 

that have happened to her at home not having clothes or make up, worrying about 

being moved anywhere different and cutting herself and not knowing any other way 

round it”. 

 

5.27 Fiona was arrested for a public order offence in April and also went missing from the 

children’s home. 

 

5.28 On 8th April Fiona’s mother raised concerns about the suitability of the placement for 

Fiona. Two days later Fiona was arrested at the children’s home where she had 

damaged her room. She was taken into custody to ‘calm her down’ and was later 

charged with criminal damage and bailed and a court date of 18th April was set, and 

she was subsequently received a 3-month referral order. 

 

5.29 Fiona was arrested again after assaulting another child at the children’s home. Police 

officers noted self-harm scars on her arms. 

 

5.30 She was moved to a permanent placement at a children’s home on 15th April 2008 

and went missing on the first night. 

 

5.31 On 23rd April CSC completed a core assessment which listed the following: 

 CAMHS to continue to work with Fiona around feeling low. 

 CSC work with Education to get Fiona back in to school. 

 CSC to work with Fiona and mum around improving their relationship. 

 YOT to work with Fiona around her criminal activity. 

 

5.32 The assessment did not consider the risk to Fiona from CSE or her frequently being 

missing. 
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5.33 Throughout April and May 2008 Fiona engaged with CAMHS and said that the 

support would help her not to self-harm. 

 

5.34 In May 2008 she was convicted at court of assault (March 2008 incident detailed 

above) 

 

5.35 Throughout May Fiona went missing several times and on 31st May she and another 

resident from the children’s home were found in the company of 2 males who were in 

their 20’s. This met threshold for a strategy discussion as there were clear CSE 

concerns however there appears to be no CSE risk assessment in place for Fiona 

and no evidence to say that she had been discussed at a CSE meeting.  

 

5.36 On 6th June 2008 a multi-agency meeting was held in respect of Fiona and the other 

girl she had gone missing with. The girls were going missing every evening and 

returning at about 5am the following morning. Staff were concerned about the girls 

being at risk of CSE. Another child from the home had informed the staff that Fiona 

and her friend were involved with a number of adult males who were supplying them 

with alcohol and drugs.  The outcome of the meeting was for CSC to arrange a CSE 

meeting. This was five months after Fiona’s mother had raised concerns about CSE. 

 

5.37 On 12th June Fiona who had been missing for 36 hours returned to the children’s 

home and stated that she had been camping out in the garden of an older male and 

his friend. It does not appear from CSC records that this was reported to the police. 

 

5.38 On 23rd June a CSE multi-agency strategy meeting was held in respect of Fiona’s 

continued missing episodes. 

 

5.39 The police record of the meeting shows that identified risk factors are: 

 Believed to be associating with adult males. 

 Goes missing with ** (more vulnerable when together) 

 At risk of sexual exploitation (low to med risk) 

  History of self-harming last incident approx. Three weeks ago…. not serious 

 Other residents believe she is being groomed. 

 Missing episodes are becoming longer (two-three days) 

 Believe she now has regular boyfriend.  

 Known to drink alcohol. 

 A preventative action plan shown as:  

 To be referred to ‘turnaround’, with assistance of YOT as she is doing reparation 

work with them. 

 care plan to be agreed at children’s home. 

 plans to be put in place to separate the girls. 

 Persistent ‘unauthorised absence’ marker requested on PNC. 

 

5.40 There is no corresponding record of this meeting available from CSC. 

On 23rd June 2008 a LAC review was held which noted that Fiona had initially 

settled well when she moved to **** Children’s Home on 15th April and continued to 

develop good relationships for the first few weeks. Within 6 weeks however another 
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girl moved into the placement and she and Fiona developed a strong relationship 

resulting in them absconding and reported as missing 23 times since 24th May 2008. 

 

5.41 It was noted that: 

 Fiona has a three-month referral order since she assaulted a member of staff 

now increased to six months as she breached this. 

 Concerns that Fiona is using alcohol and possibly other harmful substances.  

 Fiona has not been attending CAMHS appointments”. 

 

5.42 It was also noted that a Strategy meeting was to follow the review (same afternoon) 

to discuss safeguarding Fiona from sexual exploitation and the placement at **** 

Children’s Home.  There is, however, no record of a strategy meeting taking place, 

who attended or minutes in the CAMHS /LAC records. 

 

5.43 On 28th June a CSE Strategy meeting took place as there were further concerns 

around Fiona being at risk of CSE.  Warning letters were sent to any potential 

harbourers and hotels. There is no record in the CSE strategy meeting minutes of 

Fiona being referred to CSE services or whether she had been taken for a sexual 

health check.  

 

5.44 A CSE risk assessment had still not been carried out with Fiona. 

 

5.45 On 1st July 2008 Fiona and another girl went missing. The police log of this incident 

states: “05.26: Both mispers are believed to be in the Bradford Area with an unknown 

Asian male who is supplying them with drugs in return for sexual favours. Requests 

have been sent to Bradford to carry out address checks. Both mispers were spoken 

to by an officer at around 0330hrs on their mobile phones, they would not give their 

location but did confirm that they are together at this time. Log endorsed that 

information received from care staff that FG was spoken with in the early hours by 

them and was at ***** Bradford. Return interview report attached to occurrence. This 

detailed that Fiona had been found at the above address at 07.40 that day by 

officers. She did not want to return, and police liaised with a family support worker 

who advised them that if Fiona was safe and well she could remain at the address. 

Fiona declined to say how she got there”. 

 

5.46 Throughout June and July 2008 Fiona continued to go missing from the children’s 

home. On 22nd July Fiona was allocated a new social worker. 

 

5.47 On 22nd August Fiona was convicted at Bradford Magistrates of criminal damage 

and given a Conditional Discharge for 12 months. 

 

5.48 Throughout August and September Fiona continued to go missing and on 11th 

September Fiona reported that she had been assaulted by a male and had a black 

eye and two lumps on her eye, bruises on her chest and that she had received 

hospital treatment for her injuries. Fiona would not give any information about who 

had assaulted her. During this period of time Fiona disengaged with CAMHS and 

partially re-engaged in October 2008 
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5.49 In November 2008 Fiona became pregnant. She was aged 15. 

 

5.50 In December 2008 Fiona was convicted of battery at Bradford Juvenile Court and 

received a three-month Action Plan Order and three months electronic tagging with a 

curfew. She was also found guilty of breach of the Attendance Centre Order. 

 

5.51 Fiona told her CAMHS worker that she was pregnant and asked to be discharged 

from CAMHS in December 2008. The LAC nurse visited Fiona in December 2008 

and Fiona discussed her pregnancy and her fears and hopes for the future. Neither 

the CAMHS worker nor the LAC nurse record that they discussed who the father of 

the baby was and whether or not it was an age appropriate and safe relationship. 

 

5.52 In early January 2009 Fiona went missing on several occasions and she was again 

described by the police as ‘extremely streetwise’. Fiona’s mother reported to the 

police that she believed Fiona’s ‘boyfriend’ and father of the baby was a paedophile. 

No agency had any information about him at that point. 

 

5.53 On 22nd January 2009 a CSE meeting took place, and it was decided that Fiona 

required a CSE risk assessment which was to be completed by allocated social 

worker. 

 

5.54 On 23rd January 2009 Fiona was treated in A & E for a broken nose, two black eyes 

and other facial injuries. She stated that she had been assaulted by her boyfriend’s 

friend and named him (he was arrested, charged and convicted of the assault). This 

met the threshold for a strategy discussion. Fiona was pregnant and subject to a 

significant assault. However, it does not appear that a strategy discussion took place. 

 

5.55 On 26th January a CLA review noted concerns that Fiona was still going missing and 

was still using alcohol and drugs. 

 

5.56 At the end of January following a court appearance Fiona had a change of placement 

following her telling the court that she was being bullied at her existing home. This 

led to her being placed in a crisis placement. 

 

5.57 On 12th February following weeks of Fiona moving between houses CSC carried out 

an assessment of her friend’s suitability as a placement. This was the same friend 

who had previously been assessed as unsafe. However, on this occasion CSC 

decided that Fiona would be ‘least at risk’ staying there. By 9th March this 

arrangement had broken down as the friend of Fiona’s said that Fiona’s behaviour 

was inappropriate and causing problems for the family. Fiona returned to live with her 

mother. At this point in time CSC had not sought legal advice and the Section 20 

arrangements had not changed. 

 

5.58 By 13th March Fiona had been placed in a bed and breakfast as her return to live 

with her mother had also broken down. This ‘placement’ lasted one night as the 

proprietors said they would not accommodate Fiona as she had spent the night in 
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bed with a male who was also staying there. This did not trigger any discussion with 

Fiona or consideration of CSE. 

 

5.59 On 26th June the Section 20 arrangement ended.  

 

5.60 Fiona gave birth to her baby in July 2009 and following a positive pre-birth 

assessment she and the baby returned to live with her mother. 

 

5.61 On 5th October Fiona and the baby were placed in a mother and baby placement but 

on 1st November she was asked to leave as she had not stuck to the terms of her 

placement and had allowed her boyfriend in after the 11pm deadline. Again, there is 

no record of who this boyfriend was. 

 

5.62 Fiona returned to her mother’s house whilst another placement was found however 

Fiona assaulted her mother on 19th December. The baby who was present became 

distressed and Fiona was arrested. Following this incident Fiona went to live at her 

grandmother’s and the baby remained with Fiona’s mother. 

 

5.63 On 12th January 2010 a leaving care worker made a referral to CAMHS for Fiona 

following an incident in which Fiona threatened to harm herself with a knife. The 

referral detailed that “Fiona sometimes disappears for days at a time with male 

friends. When asked to sort out her utilities Fiona picked up a knife and threatened to 

kill herself.  Abrasions and a bite mark also noted on her lower arms by a worker 

from Foundation Housing” The referral also detailed concerns that Fiona was not 

feeding her baby and that the flat was cold. There was no consideration that the 

‘male friends’ may in fact have been abusers. 

 

5.64 The following day Fiona assaulted her social worker and housing support worker as 

they informed her that they felt she should not be in a flat on her own and should 

either return to her mother’s or go to a hostel.  

 

5.65 Fiona was arrested again following a further assault of her mother on 26th January 

2010. 

 

5.66 On 27th January Fiona reported to CSC that she was homeless; she was put in a 

B&B for the night. The following day Fiona went to Leeds to stay with a friend and 

failed to get in touch with her social worker as planned. There is no detail on record 

to say who this friend was. 

 

5.67 There are no further agency records until April 2010 when Fiona was admitted to 

hospital following an overdose. She was seen by adult mental health staff and 

deemed fit to be discharged. 

 

5.68 On 7th May Fiona was moved to an out of area placement in West Yorkshire. 

 

5.69 On 27th May Fiona’s GP made a referral to adult mental health services. 
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5.70 On 10th June 2010 Fiona’s mother contacted CSC to say she was struggling to care 

for Fiona’s baby. She was not receiving any support and requested respite. 

 

5.71 On 18th June Fiona was reported missing from her placement and returned after a 

week and a half.  She had been to Scotland with a friend. There is nothing on record 

to say who the friend was and whether or not Fiona had been safe. (It later transpired 

that this trip to Scotland had been made with adult males) 

 

5.72 Throughout July 2010 Fiona was again arrested for assaulting her mother and sister. 

 

5.73 A referral to the Barnardo’s Turnaround service was made on 12th July by Fiona’s 

careers worker. (Missing in Yorkshire was a service delivered at that time across 

Kirklees and the referral was shared with Turnaround as Fiona was a Bradford child 

and was going missing). 

 

5.74 On 16th July Fiona was seen by an adult mental health worker with her support 

worker in attendance at her home. Fiona presented with a black eye and when asked 

how it had happened refused to discuss it. 

 

5.75 On 19th July 2010 Fiona alleged that she had been raped by an ex-boyfriend. There 

is a police report on the electronic system which provides details of the incident, 

however there are no further details recorded providing the outcome of the 

investigation by the police and CSC. 

 

5.76 On 6th August a support worker called the police to report that Fiona and another 16-

year-old had got into a car with a male who was under the influence of drugs. The 

support worker also stated that Fiona and the other child had been on a drinking and 

drugs spree for two days. 

 

5.77 On 11th August 2010 a staff member from Fiona’s residential unit called the police 

and reported that Fiona and other girls from the home were being sexually groomed 

by a 44-year-old male. This staff member also stated that Fiona and others from the 

home have reported that the male washes her clothes, provides crack cocaine, 

alcohol, cigarettes and food. Although the girls deny this the caller felt that the girls 

were being sexually groomed.  The police record states “The girls have said that 

young Asian males call frequently at the house, and it has been suggested that the 

girls are sleeping with some of these males. The organisation does not have the 

power to make these girls come back to the home as a consequence can only report 

them as under age. Caller is saying that this is a repetitive problem that issues 

surrounding this have to be addressed as these girls keep going back to this Asian 

male. She would like to talk with the duty Inspector on her mobile phone on this log 

as a secondary number, in the next couple of hours to discuss the options available 

to bring this to a positive conclusion”. This information was shared with CSC. 

 

5.78 On 17th August the police found Fiona and another child at the adult male’s house 

and returned them to the residential unit. 
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5.79 On 19th August Fiona was seen by the adult mental health worker who had persisted 

in trying to meet with and support Fiona, however Fiona’s missing from home 

episodes had made this difficult. Fiona said that she did not want mental health 

involvement. At this time Fiona also declined support from the Barnado’s Turnaround 

service. 

 

5.80 Throughout the rest of August and September Fiona continued to go missing from 

the residential unit including travelling to Birmingham with “unknown Asian males to 

celebrate Eid”. A CSE meeting took place on 13th September, and it was noted that 

there was “Evidence to suggest consistent grooming by the Asian male *** and Fiona 

seems to be one of the dominant figures in supporting him to entice other girls to the 

address”. The outcome was that a harbouring notice was given to the suspect.   

 

5.81 On 16th September a strategy meeting was held in respect of Fiona and three other 

girls who were all being sexually exploited by the same 44-year-old and several other 

males. There is no record of what the outcome of the strategy meeting was. 

 

5.82 Throughout September Fiona was frequently missing from the residential unit and 

made it clear that she did not want to stay there. Also during this period of time, the 

adult mental health worker attempted to meet with Fiona but was unable to as she 

was missing. 

 

5.83 On 24th September Fiona was arrested at the residential unit for criminal damage. 

The police log notes “Fiona has claimed to have phoned 'some Asians' to come to 

the home and help her. She is vulnerable to sexual exploitation and is heavily 

involved with males in the Bradford area” The police note also record that Fiona is 

“using cocaine and has depression and a personality disorder”. It is not clear where 

this information came from. Fiona did not have a diagnosis of a personality disorder 

or depression. 

 

5.84 On 26th September, Fiona had been reported missing again. The police log states 

“Misper is a 17yr old in supported housing living alone but with supported visits, 

spoken to by staff since missing believed with male friends who she often visits whilst 

'Missing'. I do not see any imminent danger this evening, she does this on a very 

regular basis, I therefore grade this as a Low risk misper”. This was reviewed by a 

supervising officer and the log indicates “case discussed with officer in charge who 

raised valid concerns about sexual exploitation with this girl. Misper officer aware of 

this girl. In view of this upgraded to medium risk. Misper has been laughing down 

phone this eve so is clearly not in any distress or immediate danger” The grading 

was then changed to medium risk. 

 

5.85 On 29th September the adult mental health worker recorded that “Fiona has failed to 

engage and has DNA several appointments. When she has been seen she doesn't 

exhibit any signs or symptoms suggestive of depression or any other mental illness. 

Fiona uses illicit substances regularly and doesn't accept at present that this may 

have a negative effect on her mood and functioning in life.  She is currently living in a 

non-statutory residential unit in Dewsbury but often is absent from there for days and 

returns to Bradford to be with her friends”. 
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5.86 On 4th October 2010 Fiona told staff at the residential placement that she had been 

sexually assaulted on 2nd October and had grazes on her legs. Fiona refused to tell 

the police or speak to her social worker. Fiona said only that it was a guy called ** but 

would not say more. She told her support worker at her placement that she had “a 

little argument with her friend and then had met these guys who said they would take 

her home but instead took her to a house. She said the three males tried to touch her 

and that she had sex with one of them in an empty bath. Fiona said that she did not 

say no to him and just wanted to get it over and done with”. There is no evidence that 

S47 enquiries were carried out and no information from the police to suggest the 

assault was reported to them. 

 

5.87 On 6th October the manager of the residential unit telephoned Barnardo’s 

Turnaround service, at this point the service had not met with Fiona, were very 

concerned that Fiona “needs advice following possible miscarriage, including sexual 

health advice. Noted that Fiona’s uncle had just died”. It was agreed that the 

manager would take Fiona to the Turnaround Service. 

 

5.88 On 8th October 2010 a Harbourers Notice was sent by post to a second adult male in 

respect of Fiona. There is no information recorded to show that he was spoken to in 

person by the police. 

 

5.89 During October Fiona continued to go missing and told staff that she had a new 

boyfriend. The boyfriend was 19 years old and had just been released from prison. 

Fiona said that he was violent. She also stated that he was the father of her baby 

who was by this time 16-month-old. It was also recorded that Fiona owed the 45-

year-old male money for drugs. Also, during October Fiona’s mother stated that she 

was seeking a residential order in respect of Fiona’s baby. 

 

5.90 In addition, the Barnardo’s Turnaround service worker liaised with the residential unit 

manager about Fiona however she did not manage to meet with Fiona as she was 

missing. 

 

5.91 On 23rd October at a return from missing interview Fiona told the police that she had 

been with “friends one of which is a drug dealer called *** who gave her 3 Valium 

tablets after which she fell asleep.  **** is an Asian male 28-30 years old, muscular 

build, 6ft tall”. 

 

5.92 On 25th October Fiona called the police to report that she had been stalked by her 

ex-boyfriend for the past six months. Fiona had received a call from him threatening 

to burn her house down with her daughter in the house. He had rung her about 12 

times that night.  

 

5.93 On 29th October 2010 a police log in response to Fiona going missing recorded that 

Fiona’s social worker had given permission for her to stay out all weekends and 

therefore would not be reported missing at those times. 
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5.94 On 1st November 2010 a support worker at the residential unit contacted the adult 

mental health worker to say that Fiona was struggling and had said that she wished 

she had engaged with the service. The adult mental health worker agreed to discuss 

and to identify if a worker could offer an appointment. There is no further 

documentation regarding the outcome. 

 

5.95 On 2nd November staff at the residential unit relayed their concerns to the police and 

to CSC that Fiona was very fragile and had asked staff to remove razor blades and 

pills from her room to prevent her harming herself. 

 

5.96 On 10th November CSC recorded that Fiona was regularly using drugs.  

 

5.97 On 17th November the Barnardo’s Turnaround worker spotted Fiona leaving her 

grandparent’s house at 7.00pm and getting into a car, parked nearby, with three 

men. The driver was dressed in a business suit and looked to be in his forties. There 

is nothing recorded to show that this information was shared with CSC. 

 

5.98 On 24th November Fiona moved property at her request. This was a planned move 

to a supported tenancy. The staff from the residential unit would offer three hours 

support a day to Fiona.  This was on the understanding that Fiona would engage with 

support services and education.  

 

5.99 On 20th December it was noted by CSC that Fiona was requesting overnight contact 

with her child at Christmas. This was not agreed as Fiona had not had any contact 

with her child for a long time.  It was agreed that Fiona could have supervised contact 

with the child on Christmas day. (Fiona’s child at this point in time was living with 

Fiona’s mother) 

 

5.100 On 24th January 2011 CSC record that Fiona's neighbour reported concerns that she 

is “using the property for solicitation. The neighbour sees numerous men visiting the 

flat during the night. The men stay between 30mins and 1hour. Some of the men are 

very well dressed (business men like). The neighbour also been informed by the 

landlady that Fiona meets Asians in cars on the main road. These people don't come 

into the flat but stay in their vehicles providing Fiona with substances. It is suspected 

that Fiona is soliciting herself for alcohol and drugs to meet her addiction”. 

 

5.101 On 27th January a worker from the Barnardo’s Turnaround service attempted to 

contact the residential unit manager to discuss concerns about Fiona. It is of note 

that there was an attempt to arrange a visit in mid-November 2010. The last contact 

with Fiona was by a worker other than the allocated worker on 29th October 

informing her that someone would be in contact within the next few weeks this had 

now stretched to several months. 

 

5.102 In late January 2011 Fiona sought legal advice in respect of contact with her child. 

The subsequent court process resulted in Fiona’s child being taken into foster care 

under a Section 20 arrangement in February 2011 and an Interim Care Order was 

granted to Bradford CSC on 7th March 2011. 
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5.103 In March 2011 Fiona moved to a new flat in a different town within the borough. 

 

5.104 On 29th March Fiona was injured when a male she had met when visiting someone 

in prison threw a glass bottle at her feet. This happened outside Fiona’s new home. 

  

5.105 On 6th April 2011 a meeting took place between Fiona’s social worker, Fiona’s 

support worker and Fiona’s child’s social worker.  Concerns were raised around 

Fiona not engaging with services and not attending contact with her child, drug and 

alcohol issues and not meeting her own care needs. Fiona was not brought to the 

meeting, therefore the workers tried to visit Fiona and she was verbally abusive 

towards them, so they had to leave. 

 

5.106 On 12th April Fiona was admitted to hospital after self-harming. 

 

5.107 On 15th April the police were called about a disturbance at Fiona’s property. “A group 

of 5 Asian males, approx. 20 -25yrs old turned up and began shouting at the 

occupants to come out and meet them.  The group made off in a large vehicle 

towards the bus station.  Officers attended and spoke to the female occupant of ***** 

who advised officers that nothing had happened”.  The police log then states “This 

will be Fiona previously of ******. Storm logs from her previous address suggest while 

she was resident it was being used as a brothel and frequently smelt of cannabis. 

Many Asian men were seen to visit the premises at all hours of the night”. 

 

5.108 On 10th May 2011 Fiona returned to live with her grandmother. 

 

5.109 On 8th June Fiona moved into a new flat. This was her fourth move in eight months. 

 

5.110 On 23rd June 2011 Fiona was seen by a worker from the Barnardo’s Turnaround 

Service. Fiona was reluctant to engage and said that she was seeing too many 

professionals and wanted to focus on getting her child back. The worker’s 

assessment was that Fiona remained at high risk of CSE owing to her contact with 

individuals involved in CSE, her drinking and drug taking, her depression and self-

harming and the stress of the court case in relation to her child. 

 

5.111 On 25th July Fiona reported to CSC that she had been attacked twice over the 

weekend within her home.  

 

5.112 On 9th August a parenting assessment was completed by CSC.  Fiona was informed 

that the local authority would not be recommending that her child was returned to her 

care and the care plan would be adoption. 

 

5.113 Throughout October and November 2011 Fiona engaged sporadically with the 

Turnaround service. 

 

5.114 In November she was again attacked within her own home and went to live with her 

mother whilst waiting to be re-housed. 

 



26 
 

5.115 On 9th January 2012 the Final Court Hearing took place in respect of Fiona’s child 

and a Care Order and Placement Order granted to the local authority. 

 

5.116 Fiona was aged 18 at this point. 

 

6.0 Key Themes Fiona 

6.1 Fiona’s early life was characterised by serious domestic abuse and her mother’s poor 

mental health. Agencies were aware of the domestic abuse including physical abuse 

and Fiona was explicit about how this impacted upon her. Despite this nothing 

changed for her, and the outcome was that she left the family home and the 

perpetrator continued to live there. 

 

6.2 Fiona’s mother expressed concerns about CSE as early as January 2008 and there 

was evidence that Fiona was in contact with males. This wasn’t acted upon by the 

police or CSC. 

 

6.3 There was little stability for Fiona before and after she became a looked after child 

and she experienced frequent moves.  She went missing on an almost daily basis 

and the police (and other agencies) response to this was, at times, poor. Fiona was 

described by the police, more than once, as ‘street wise’ and this implied that she 

could look after herself. Her missing from home/ care episodes were also described 

as ‘unauthorised absences’ which resulted in a ‘downgraded’ response than would a 

description of ‘missing’. This also meant that missing from home interviews did not 

take place with Fiona and there was no missing strategy plan in place to help 

manage the risk to her. 

   

6.4 There appeared to be agreement by all agencies that Fiona was either at risk of CSE 

or was actively being sexually abused and exploited (including by a known 44-year-

old abuser) but this was not addressed by any single agency until the Turnaround 

service worked with her (with sporadic engagement; from November 2011) 

 

6.5 When Fiona became pregnant at the age of 15 there was little curiosity or enquiry 

about who the father was and whether or not Fiona was safe. Similarly, when Fiona 

reported that she had a boyfriend there was little consideration of how safe this 

‘relationship’ was for Fiona. 

 

6.6 During the timescale considered by this review Fiona was assaulted at least seven 

times (beginning when she was aged eight or nine). There is nothing in any agency 

records to describe how this would have affected Fiona or how it might contextualise 

her own aggressive behaviour. The assaults included rape and sexual assault and 

these allegations were not given the same credence and response had they been 

made by an adult or even by a different child. 

 

6.7 Fiona ended up with several convictions for behaviours, some of which may well 

have been a symptom of the levels of fear and distress she was experiencing (see 

also the Criminalisation of Sexually Exploited Children in the overview report). 
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6.8 The language used by CSC and the police to describe what was happening to Fiona 

between 2008 and 2011 was striking. She was described as exchanging sexual 

favours for alcohol and drugs (aged 14 or 15) and soliciting and operating a brothel 

(aged 17). She was a looked after child during these periods. 

 

6.9 An assessment that she could not provide her child with a safe environment meant 

that her child was adopted against Fiona’s wishes. This decision was made after 

many years of Fiona herself being unsafe and experiencing significant harm whilst in 

the care of the local authority. The trauma and loss from the adoption of her baby will 

have lifelong implications for Fiona (and for the adopted child and siblings). 

 

6.10 Fiona, as an adult suffers from ongoing mental health issues including a diagnosis of 

Complex PTSD. 

 

6.11 In conversation with the independent reviewer Fiona described the impact of how she 

was treated by professionals as being as “bad as the abuse” and exploitation. 

  

6.12 Fiona asks, “Why was my child removed from me because of concerns over me 

being a victim of CSE but I, still under the age of 18, was left to carry on being 

abused”?  

 

6.13 In summary Fiona was not kept safe by agencies who had responsibility for her 

wellbeing and the abuse, assaults, exploitation and other harms she experienced 

were not acknowledged or addressed. 

 

Case 3 – Samara  

7.0 Brief background 

7.1 The review considered events between March 2014 and July 2019 

 

7.2 Samara is now aged 15. Samara’s family were known to CSC and health agencies 

from 2004 onwards because of domestic abuse. Her mother and father both had 

mental health difficulties. 

 

7.3 In January 2017 when Samara was aged 12 her family contacted the police to report 

that Samara was in contact with several adult males. The contacts had initially been 

on-line and had led to face-to-face meetings and abuse.   

 

7.4 At one stage Samara had moved out of area and was being sexually exploited there. 

This required three police forces and two Local Authorities to work together.  

 

8.0 Key Practice and other Events 

 

8.1 When Samara’s family contacted the police in January 2017 the police made an 

immediate referral to the MASH and a strategy meeting was convened. The meeting 

was led by the police as it was likely that crimes had been committed against Samara 
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(the suspect was a man in his 20’s from a neighbouring borough). At that point in 

time Samara was assessed as at high risk of CSE. 

 

8.2 Samara said that she had been using a mobile app and had been messaged by the 

suspect and she later met with him. Her phone and clothing that she had worn were 

seized by the police. Enquiries with social care in the suspect’s home area were 

directed to ensure safeguarding of other children he may be in contact with. 

 

8.3 Samara was admitted to hospital via the emergency department with abdominal pain 

the same day. This pain does not seem to have been assessed as a potential impact 

of an assault. 

 

8.4 The following day in late January a further strategy discussion was convened as 

Samara had presented at the hospital with vaginal bleeding and abdominal pains. 

She confirmed she was taken to a hotel by a male, and they had sexual intercourse. 

She stated she was scared. CSC carried out S47 enquires, and the outcome was 

that concerns were substantiated however Samara was judged not to be at 

continuing risk of significant harm as this was an isolated incident and her parents 

were deemed to be protective. 

 

8.5 Information was shared with the hospital about the possible assault and a forensic 

medical was agreed via a strategy discussion between the police and a paediatric 

consultant. However, there was no longer an ‘out of hours’ service available who 

could carry out the medical, so arrangements were made with West Yorkshire Sexual 

Assault Referral Centre (SARC) to carry it out the following day. This meant that 

there was a 48-hour delay in gathering forensic evidence. 

 

8.6 The forensic examination took place as planned however there was no STI screening 

carried out which meant that Samara had to undergo a further invasive medical 

procedure at a later date. The forensic medical records were incomplete and stated 

that a referral had been made for STI screening. This referral was not within the 

records and there is no documentation of the results of the STI screening, although 

the paediatrician has confirmed it did take place. The records also state that a 

safeguarding referral has been completed but this is also not available in the paper 

records. In addition, a CSE risk assessment was not completed. A GP notification 

letter was completed however there is no evidence that this was sent to or received 

by the GP surgery. 

 

8.7 On the same day the suspect was arrested by GMP officers and brought to a 

Bradford police station where he was interviewed in the presence of a solicitor. 

Samara positively identified him via video, and he was then charged with rape. He 

was remanded in custody. 

 

8.8 Later in January a multi-agency decision was made to reduce Samara’s CSE risk 

from high to medium although there is no information to detail the rationale for this 

decision. 
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8.9 Throughout January and February 2017 the police investigation progressed. Samara 

underwent the STI screening in the first week in February and was given Hepatitis B 

immunisation. It was noted that Samara was overweight. A specialist health 

practitioner (SHP) agreed to work with Samara and her mother to offer support in 

respect of the rape and for weight management. 

 

8.10 At a home visit with Samara the SHP recorded Samara “reports worsening 

nightmares more frequently- bedwetting is more frequent with the build up to the 

court appearance Not attending school this week. Feels increasingly scared that 

perpetrator or someone else will come and get her or do something to her increasing. 

General anxiousness within family that Samara will be taken into care. Dad and 

brothers telling mum not to talk to us as it will make it worse. Spoke to family to 

ensure they understood process of CSC assessment and what all police statements 

were and that it is important to talk to professionals and to support not blame one 

another”. Samara was not attending school during this period. 

 

8.11 CSC carried out a single agency assessment at this time. There was no mention of 

the outcome off the medical, Visual Recorded Interview (VRI) or the on-going police 

investigation in the single assessment. There appeared to be a support plan in place 

for Samara but there was no timescale as to when the work would take place and 

when it should be completed.  It was also unclear as to who is responsible for 

carrying out some of the tasks. 

 

8.12 In late February the SHP carried out a further home visit and recorded that Samara 

had returned to school and her anxiety was lessening. Samara’s father requested 

help with some forms and went on to discuss difficulties and deterioration with his 

own mood and sleeping. The SHP also noted that she would speak to Samara’s 

mother’s GP about her low mood. 

 

8.13 On the same day Samara’s mother reported that father had visited (they lived in 

separate houses) swearing and being very aggressive towards her waking up 

Samara. He blamed Samara’s mother ‘for everything’. She denied any physical 

violence but agreed that this was domestic abuse and agreed to a referral to Staying 

Put for support. 

 

8.14 Father disclosed that ‘things had got too much for him’ and was found at home by his 

sons to be incoherent and confused, he attended A&E and was admitted overnight 

for observation. 

 

8.15 In the first week of March a CSE risk assessment was completed and discussed at 

the MASH CSE meeting.  It was agreed by all professionals that Samara’s risk had 

been reduced from high to medium too soon (4 days after the incident) based on the 

serious nature of the incident and because CSE work had not been started at the 

time of the initial professional planning meeting. Information was also shared by the 

police that Samara was or had been in contact with other older men therefore her risk 

assessment was returned to ‘high’. 
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8.16 On the same day the suspect had his first appearance in court and the police 

informed Samara and her family. 

 

8.17 Throughout March the police kept Samara and her family updated about the court 

proceedings and in the third week in March the suspect was known to intend to plead 

not guilty.  

 

8.18 During the same time period the SHP continued to offer support to Samara and 

noted that she felt that Samara was ‘holding back’ and ‘reluctant to talk about her 

feelings’. She also noted that her mother was waiting for counselling. By the last 

week in March, she recorded “Home Situation unchanged, Samara and mum 

concerned about the trial, Samara still not talking openly about feelings. Still having 

nightmares and wetting the bed. Mum has asked dad to give her some space 

spending less time at house but still sees his children”. 

 

8.19 In early April the SHP during a visit to Samara at school recorded that Samara was 

concerned about trial and upset as her brothers were constantly questioning and 

blaming her for what happened. A police officer was also present at the visit and 

agreed to take Samara to court a few weeks before the trial in order to try and lessen 

her anxiety. The officer also visited the family home and spoke to Samara’s brothers 

and asked them to stop asking her questions and to support her. Her school had 

allocated a member of staff to support Samara. 

 

8.20 Throughout April 2017 Samara continued to receive support from a social worker and 

the SHP. It was noted that she was on the waiting list for the Alma Project (now the 

CALM project). 

 

8.21 In May 2017 a CIN meeting took place, and it was agreed that Samara should remain 

on a CIN plan. 

 

8.22 In June 2017 a multi-agency pre-trial planning meeting took place, and it was agreed 

that the Alma Project and CAMHS would provide support to Samara after the trial. 

 

8.23 In late June Samara’s school recorded that she was stressed and suffering from 

nightmares as the trial date neared and they emailed the MASH to ask what 

additional support was available for her. In response to this the CSE police officer 

who had supported Samara since the incident spoke to Samara and co-ordinated 

support for her from CAMHS and the SHP. 

 

8.24 During July the trial took place and Samara, and her mother gave evidence. Three 

days later the defendant was found not guilty. The SHP records that “Samara was 

distraught the outcome of court case today and very tearful She feels that no one will 

believe anything she says now and is scared the suspect will "come and get her" 

Reassured that a sexual harm prevention order was granted- denied any thoughts to 

harm herself, no previous history of self-harm.  Agreed to contact Alma Street project 

to arrange starting the work with them”.  
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8.25  Later in July Samara sustained an injury to her hand after punching a wall. She 

explained that this was as a result of her emotional distress. The SHP continued to 

support her and monitor her emotional health. The SHP offered and Samara agreed 

to education work around CSE, grooming and internet safety. Samara stated that she 

missed her phone. The SHP discussed the conversations with other males online. 

Samara stated that she was only chatting and in general conversation, never 

anything sexual and it wasn’t until she had phone contact with the perpetrator that it 

changed to a threatening nature resulting in her agreeing to meeting up as she was 

scared of what would happen if she refused. 

 

8.26 Later in July Samara informed the SHP that she had told the defendant where she 

and her mother lived, and she was now scared to go home (she was staying with a 

brother at this point). She had not told her family what she had done and was also 

afraid of their reaction. The SHP passed this information on to the police who visited 

Samara’s mother at her home. Samara’s mother and brothers stated that they felt 

safe and there was no information to suggest that the defendant would try and 

contact them. 

 

8.27 During the last week of July, the SHP visited Samara and noted that Samara “is 

feeling a little more accepting of events. Upset by comments in the local newspaper 

reassured. Police have discussed a panic alarm being fitted; Samara felt she would 

feel safe enough to return home once this was in place to liaise with police”. 

 

8.28 Also during that week, a High Risk CSE meeting took place it was noted that Samara 

was about to start work with Alma Street project and possibly individual work with 

CAMHS. It was also noted that Samara “continues to exhibit trauma response 

symptoms”. 

 

8.29 In August Samara reported that she was still too afraid to return home. 

 

8.30 Also in August following a CSE risk assessment a multi-agency decision was made 

to reduce Samara’s risk of CSE to medium. 

 

8.31 Throughout August the SHP continued to support Samara and her family. Samara 

had returned home and stated that her nightmares had returned, and she felt unsafe. 

She also said that she did not want to return to school as everyone would be talking 

about her. 

 

8.32 During the second week in September Samara’s school raised concerns about her 

wellbeing with the SHP will refer for EHDR (desensitisation therapy for PTSD). 

School advised by the SHP that pupil’s behaviour is entirely normal.  

 

8.33 In mid -September a further CIN meeting took place, and it was agreed that Samara 

should remain on a CIN plan. 

 

8.34 In early October 2017 Samara attended the accident and emergency department 

with an injury to her wrist which she said had been caused by being pushed 

accidentally into a wall at school. AED staff explored bullying with Samara and family 
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but were assured that the incident was accidental and contacted CSC EDT at time of 

admission. A child protection flag and CSE flag in place on electronic patient record 

prompted AED staff to alert safeguarding children’s team of Samara’s attendance 

and the safeguarding team liaised with the social worker, MASH and school nurses.  

 

8.35 In mid-October a further CSE risk assessment was completed, and Samara’s risk 

was reduced to low after discussion at a MASH CSE meeting.  A day later during a 

case discussion meeting the SHP who was not present at the MASH meeting stated 

her disagreement with the reduction in risk. She summarised that Samara had not 

completed any work to enable her to understand grooming and exploitation and how 

to keep herself safe. The Alma Street Project had closed the case as they felt that it 

was not the right time to complete the therapeutic work and suggested some work for 

the SHP to complete with her. CAMHS were about to start EMDR. In other words, no 

therapeutic or CSE specific work had yet been completed.   

 

8.36 Furthermore, the SHP stated that “whilst Samara’s parents were acting protectively 

Samara did not associate with any friends outside of school, she did not go anywhere 

on her own as she was scared of being alone, she was still sleeping in her mother’s 

bedroom for the same reason. The defendant was back in the community and knew 

where she lived. She has no access to a phone or the internet and feels socially 

isolated as she used to have contact via phone and messaging with her friends 

outside of school. Her parents had disengaged from direct work with CAMHS in 

respect of the exploitation following the outcome of the court case as they did not feel 

it was worth doing anymore. Samara’s mother had reluctantly agreed to look at 

completing that work which entails understanding the recovery process and how to 

support Samara appropriately”. 

 

8.37 The SHP summarised that “In order to reduce her risk Samara needed to complete 

direct work around CSE and grooming and keeping safe from a specialist CSE 

service, complete therapeutic work to aid recovery from the sexual abuse 

experienced and parents to complete the education and awareness work with 

CAMHS in order to effectively protect and support Samara. Clear Safety plans need 

to be agreed with the family and Samara to support and protect her in all situations 

and enable her to live a fulfilling life like other 13-year-olds”. 

 

8.38 In mid- November 2017 CSC records indicate that the case was closed however no 

case closing meeting took place and there is no information detailing the rationale for 

the decision. It is therefore not clear what direct work had taken place with Samara in 

respect of CSE. 

 

8.39 On the same day a police entry records that “The case of the above-named individual 

has been carefully considered by the Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Unit 

(MSHTU) Competent Authority.  As a result of further investigations into the case, the 

MSHTU Competent Authority has concluded that the above individual is a victim of 

modern slavery”. There is no record of how or if Samara was informed of this or of 

her reaction to it. 
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8.40 In mid- February 2018 Samara’s mother contacted the SHP to say the family were in 

Cambridgeshire visiting family and Samara went missing at 10pm the night before. 

This had been reported to the police. Samara had cleared her wardrobe and taken 

bags with her. Her brother found that she had downloaded Instagram a couple of 

weeks earlier. A strategy discussion was convened, and a decision made to increase 

Samara’s CSE risk to high immediately.  Samara was aged 13 at this point. 

 

8.41 Contact was made with Cambridgeshire police and a police Joint Investigation Team 

officer and a CSE SW were to be allocated to update risk assessment and complete 

any actions from section 47 investigation completed by Cambridgeshire CSC.  

 

8.42 Samara’s school were informed that Samara was missing (during school holidays) a 

member of staff accessed information about pupil’s friendship groups securely from 

home and shared Information with the SHP, Cambridgeshire Police and the MASH. 

Police conducted home visits using information provided and liaised with **** until 

Samara was located.  

 

8.43 Over the next few days it transpired that Samara had been in contact with two males; 

one of whom was a friend of her brothers and known to the police as being involved 

in CSE. Samara had been asking for money from her parents and friend and had 

been using a mobile phone taken from her grandmother’s house. This phone had 

been locked since the previous year. Samara’s diary was found and contained further 

details including phone numbers of the two males. The diary and mobile phone were 

seized by WYP and collected by Cambridgeshire police who had arrested one of the 

males. 

 

8.44 By the third week in February it was believed that Samara was in the Bradford area 

and a second male was arrested on suspicion of abduction.  

 

8.45 On 21st February 2018, a CSC record indicates that a strategy discussion was held 

with Cambridgeshire CSC & Cambridgeshire Police. Samara had been found in a 

hotel room in Birmingham in bed with an adult male. There was another male who 

has collected her and brought her to Birmingham. Both of these males have been 

arrested and were being held for questioning. Samara was made subject of a PPO.  

 

8.46 The outcome of strategy discussion was that Cambridgeshire police were to continue 

their investigations. Samara was to be accompanied to ****** Cambridgeshire SARC 

for a medical by the allocated police officer and her mother. It was agreed that there 

was no necessity for a Cambridgeshire SW to attend. Bradford CSC were happy for 

Samara to return home and the PPO to be removed unless she disclosed something 

during the investigation which would give rise to concerns about parenting capacity to 

safeguard. 

 

8.47 It was agreed that the allocated SW in Bradford would forward all relevant contact 

details for professionals in Bradford to professionals in Cambridgeshire. 

Cambridgeshire police and CSC would give updates to Bradford as and when 

necessary, in relation to the investigation and any significant changes such as when 
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the family are returning to Bradford. It was also agreed that Cambridgeshire police 

would carry out S47 enquiries. 

 

8.48 The ***** Cambridgeshire SARC medical records are incomplete in respect of 

Samara’s attendance for a forensic medical. The medical was not carried out fully 

and there is no record of why this was the case. There also appears to have been 

confusion and delay caused by the medical examiner running late and asking a 

colleague to carry out the medical. The medical examiner telephoned a consultant to 

ask for advice as Samara had stated that she was too exhausted to have the 

medical. Again, the records were incomplete and there was no detail of the outcome 

of the discussion. However, a second appointment was made for Samara the 

following day. 

 

8.49 Also the following day the SHP recorded that “Mum said she understood Samara 

feeling like that she didn’t want to return as she would be scared of what family will 

say to her now as she was like this last year after January incident and after the court 

case.”   

 

8.50 Over the course of 4 days in late February the SHP recorded her contacts with 

Samara and her family. She records that Samara’s mother was “Very distressed and 

clearly confused by Samara’s actions. She doesn’t understand the process of 

grooming and impact on victims and is struggling to take on some of the things that 

Samara is saying. Happy for Samara to be at brothers but feels it is a lot of pressure 

on them”.  

 

8.51 Samara was recorded as “Confused about the whole situation and didn’t really 

understand how she felt or what she thought about it all. She talked about the male 

that was arrested and that she didn’t see him as a bad guy and that he looked after 

her, came and saw her and brought her food until he did what he wanted to do with 

her. I asked how her sleep had been in relation to previous nightmares and 

bedwetting and she said she had had nightmares the night before she was 

interviewed and during the interview, she had flashbacks”. 

 

8.52 A further SHP record states “Saw Samara at brother’s house, she looked well and 

was pleased to see me. She remains hesitant to share information about the events 

and what led up to her going missing. She talked about difficult relationships at home 

with her brothers constant questioning of her and her sister not really talking to her at 

all. She has thought about running away for a while but didn’t give any information 

about the contact with the males. Her account does contradict to some extent what 

the police have discovered through their investigations. She said she had only had a 

phone since the day they broke up for half term and denied accessing the 

internet/websites or any apps. Mum is doing ok and is pleased Samara is safe. She 

is still struggling to understand why Samara did what she did and to deal with her 

own thoughts and feelings regarding this”? 

 

8.53 On 28th February, a CS note records that a follow up strategy meeting took place.  

Cambridgeshire CSC failed to undertake S47 enquiries as agreed in their strategy 
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discussion, Bradford CSC therefore carried out the enquiries. This was obviously not 

within timescales. 

 

8.54 Also on 28th February a police officer emailed the healthcare provider to advise that 

this was a suspected CSE case but following an investigation it does not appear so. 

The email stated that Samara had “put herself in risky scenarios, contacting men 

through dating sites, purporting to be 20+ years old. She does not appear to have 

been groomed or offered drugs/alcohol to gain compliance. She has then been 

offended against sexually once she has met them by virtue of her age”. This meant 

that Samara did not meet the criteria for referral to NSPCC or Link to Change as the 

case must involve CSE. It is of note that the Forensic Nurse Examiner had identified 

Samara as being at high risk of CSE. 

  

8.55 During the second week in March 2018 the Section 47 enquiries were completed by 

Bradford CSC, and it was found that concerns were substantiated, and Samara was 

judged to be at continued risk of significant harm. It was noted that Samara had 

decided she was not going to return to Bradford, and she stayed with her brother and 

sister-in law in Cambridgeshire with her parent’s consent. A decision was made for 

Cambridgeshire and Bradford CSC to complete a Child and Family assessment. The 

assessment was completed by the first week in April it was recorded that Samara 

was a victim of Human Trafficking for the purpose of sexual exploitation. Samara 

disclosed that she had been in contact with 6 different males whilst she was missing 

for a period of 6 days. 

 

8.56 In the second week of April WYP removed Samara’s CSE ‘flag’ which did not reflect 

the possibility that she might return to Bradford. (When an officer creates a CSE flag 

on the local WYP computer system, the officer also requests a marker to be put on 

the Police National Computer). 

 

8.57 Also during that week the SHP transferred Samara’s care to the Cambridgeshire 

health provider. The provider contacted the SHP two weeks later to report a missing 

episode which had happened in February and also Samara’s ‘substance misuse’. 

 

8.58 In the second week of May 2018 Samara had invited a male over to her brother's 

house at 2 am when her brother was at work. An ICPCC was held in Cambridgeshire 

and Samara was made subject of a Child Protection Plan under the category of 

sexual abuse. 

 

8.59 Samara returned to her father’s house in Bradford 4 days later as this was felt by her 

parents to be the safest place for her. 

 

8.60 During the first week in June the SHP visited Samara at her father’s home. She 

recorded that “Samara seen alone and was honest and open about the time she was 

missing from Cambridgeshire. Whilst in the hotels with the males she talked about 

not eating food very much but drinking juice and pop and that when she was with the 

last male for the 3-day period before she was found, his friend (an adult Asian male) 

came in a car and into the room. She does not know his name but said she 

remembers what he looked like. She said he gave her a clear drink to drink which 
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she did, she didn’t know what it was but believes it was vodka from discussion she 

had with her sister-in-law later. She said it burnt the back of her throat. She said she 

was also given a white powder which she sniffed, she believed this to be cocaine. 

She then can’t really remember what happened after that but remembers waking up. 

I asked if she had told anyone this information before and she said she hadn't, she 

said the police had asked in interview about drugs and alcohol but couldn't tell them 

“Stuff like that". She said she has never had alcohol or drugs before. She talked 

about family relationships and how she feels they are disowning her because of what 

she has done. She became upset and tearful whilst talking. She said her brothers will 

not speak to her”. 

 

8.61 On 12th June 2018 a transfer of case took place and Samara was made subject to a 

CPP in Bradford under the category of sexual abuse. Present were a SW from 

Cambridgeshire, SW Bradford, a teacher from School 2, a school nurse, CAMHS, 

Samara’s mother and Samara.  Information was shared that Samara had sought the 

company of males on line by using her brother’s smart phone. This had happened a 

few times the last being the day before the ICPCC and it was believed that Samara 

would continue this behaviour in Bradford. It was felt that she did not fully understand 

the implications of her behaviour and the risks she was placing herself in. A full 

cognitive assessment was to be carried out by CAMHS to determine Samara’s 

understanding of what had happened to her. 

 

8.62 The SHP continued to support Samara and her case records indicate Samara’s 

openness and willingness to confide in her. She also documents her growing 

concerns about the family relationships. Samara’s brothers in particular held Samara 

responsible for what had happened to her. Samara was spending most of her time in 

her room at her father’s house. The SHP felt that Samara was beginning to show 

insight into why she had sought out the males. She was keen to get back to school 

but was worried as she had missed six months. The SHP shared information 

regarding the missing episode in relation to drug and alcohol given by the males with 

the police. She also referred her to the trafficking group at Turnaround (Barnado’s 

service).  

 

8.63 The SHP planned a sexual health education session and arranged follow up sexual 

health appointment for Samara. She noted that Samara did not have a lot of 

knowledge about sexual health. 

 

8.64 In late August a CP review took place and it was agreed that Samara should remain 

on a CPP. There were no further core group recorded on the CSC system since June 

2018 and only two home visits took place in July and August 2018 - both out of 

timescales. 

 

8.65 During the last week in September the SHP emailed the SW to raise her concerns 

about a break down in family relationships; “She is left alone most of the time in her 

room and is not being constantly watched, challenged or asked to do things like she 

felt was happening at mum’s home. Concerns that dad does not talk about what has 

happened and has no understanding of CSE and grooming and feels that locking the 

door and keeping her in the house is keeping her safe and allowing her to build trust 
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again. Samara currently has no access to the internet or a phone unless she uses 

mum or dads’ phone with them watching her. She has stated that if she is made to go 

back to live at mums’ home she will run away again. Schools offered for Samara, but 

dad seemed reluctant to agree to her choice because of her previous Instagram 

account. Samara became hysterical screaming and shouting and crying saying they 

were lying and that they just didn’t want her to go to school, Dad basically asked me 

to go and see the brothers and find out what the problem was. 

 

8.66 The brothers talked very openly with me about how they feel about everything that 

has gone on. They believe Samara is responsible for everything and she has made 

contact with the males asking for sex and that she will do it again if she has the 

opportunity. Tried to discuss the impact of grooming and CSE on a young person but 

they were still of the opinion that Samara was to blame. They said she was obsessed 

with males, and she shouldn’t be anywhere near them.  

They admitted they had called her a slag and “all the names under the sun” they said 

they do not want any contact with her and she is not allowed in the house if they are 

there. They spoke about incidents last year that had not been reported to us”. 

 

8.67 The incidents included Samara stealing her mother’s mobile phone and meeting with 

a male outside a park. The SHP reviewed the CPP “I can see no evidence of any 

work that has been completed by BPP or any progress towards completing actions 

identified in the CP plan. I feel that other agencies are not working with this family as 

agreed in the CP review meeting and core group. It feels at the moment as though 

the approach to risk management is not joined up and that I am raising concerns that 

are not being heard and responded to appropriately”. 

 

8.68 The SHP then outlined what she believed needed to happen “Strategy discussion to 

be completed regarding historic incident of meeting and talking to an adult male in 

the park are outside the home. Work to be completed with the family ASAP in 

particular with dad to address breakdown of relationships and negative language and 

behaviour towards Samara and improve understanding of CSE & grooming and the 

impact of sexual abuse. Further assessment of parent’s ability to protect Samara. 

Samara to be in education as soon as possible”. 

 

8.69 A single agency assessment was completed by the allocated SW in late November 

and the outcome was that Be Positive Pathways (BPP) were to undertake one to one 

work with brother and parents and the SW would have one to one session with 

Samara. Core group meetings were to be held every four weeks and the CSE risk 

assessment was to be updated. 

 

8.70 In early January 2019 a multi-agency CSE planning meeting took place and the CSE 

risk to Samara was reduced to medium. It was reported that she was engaging in 

therapeutic work and had settled well into her new school. 

 

8.71 By February Samara had been given a mobile phone by her father who was 

monitoring her use of it. The SHP recorded continuing concerns about Samara’s 

relationship with her brother. By mid-March the SHP recorded “Concerns that 

Samara has talked about a male who allegedly goes to ** school that she has been 
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talking to; she knows him through her friend. Mum is worried and believes she is 

deleting things from her phone. Dad up until now has not really been checking her 

phone as was agreed, mum has told him he must check it.  Agreed to discuss with 

colleagues re management. 

 

8.72 The SHP also recorded that “BPP have completed work around CSE with mum, dad 

and Samara all said it has been useful and they feel they now have a better 

understanding of CSE and grooming. Concern raised by me that the brothers have 

not completed any work yet, and although they are now ok with Samara going to the 

house it is not clear that they have changed their opinion that Samara is responsible 

Clear plan agreed with parents that dad must check her phone randomly to ensure 

there is nothing concerning on it and Samara should leave her door open when 

having conversations on the phone so as not to hide anything from dad or mum. SHP 

to try and complete work with the brothers as there is already a relatively good 

relationship with them”. 

 

8.73 In early May 2019 Samara’s CPP ended and CIN arrangements were agreed. It was 

noted that “BPP ended their involvement before completing all work. An updated 

report of work completed had not been provided. Most work has been completed with 

Samara and the family.  Work is still outstanding with her brothers on their 

understanding of CSE, their relationship with Samara and them blaming her.  It is 

unclear if they will engage with this work. It was noted that regular core groups and 

Social Work visits have been taking place. There have been no incidents of Samara 

putting herself at risk during the review period. The CSE risk assessment has been 

reviewed and Samara remains at medium risk.  This will continue to be reviewed 

regularly”. 

 

8.74 In July 2019 Samara’s CSE risk was reduced to low as there had been no further 

concerns and the case was closed. 

 

9.0 Key Themes Samara 

9.1 A striking difference between Samara and the other children’s cases was the 

involvement of her family with agencies at a very early stage. Her parents had 

recognised the warning signs for CSE, such as changes in Samara’s behaviour; 

staying out late and being evasive about who she was meeting and her use of a 

mobile phone to contact a number of men and they reported their concerns to the 

police. 

 

9.2 What is also documented is the impact of this on Samara’s parent’s already troubled 

mental health. It was also apparent that they and Samara’s brothers initially believed 

that she was responsible for the CSE. This understandably caused Samara further 

distress.  

 

9.3 A further striking difference between Samara and the other children’s cases is the 

consistent relationship Samara and her family had with the SHP whose commitment 

and holistic understanding of the issues Samara was coping with (especially those 

within her own family) meant that Samara’s voice was heard and understood. The 
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SHP was able to use professional challenge effectively and did so on three 

occasions. Of particular note was the occasion in September 2018 upon which the 

SHP challenged agencies who had been tasked with actions in Samara’s CPP and 

had not started/ progressed these. 

 

9.4 The SHP’s excellent record keeping enabled the independent reviewer and author of 

this report to understand Samara’s vulnerabilities and the ongoing distress caused by 

her family’s response to the CSE.  

 

9.5 Samara also received a speedy and pro-active response from the police and 

consistent support from the police officer allocated to her leading up to the trial of the 

first suspect. The officer demonstrated similar understanding of Samara’s needs and 

her family context and responded accordingly. 

 

9.6 Similarly, Samara’s first school provided sensitive support and valuable information 

to the police and other agencies when Samara went missing in Cambridgeshire. 

 

9.7 There were, however, some instances when Samara was not supported well and her 

experiences of undergoing forensic medicals followed by STI screening was one of 

these. The record keeping by the company providing this service was incomplete and 

therefore fell below expected standards.  

 

9.8 It is also of note that professionals including the SHP and a police officer described 

Samara’s behaviour as ‘putting herself at risk’ or ‘putting herself in risky scenarios. 

Samara was quite clearly an extremely vulnerable 12-year-old child whose 

understanding of sex, relationships, exploitation and risk was appropriate to her age. 

She could not therefore assess risk to herself and continued to believe that one of 

the men ‘had been nice to her’ because he had brought her food and drink. The SHP 

identified that Samara felt unloved and was seeking affection from the adult males. 

This was exploited by the older men, and it was this that led to Samara being 

sexually and physically abused. 

 

9.9 The judgement made and shared by a police officer that Samara had not been 

sexually exploited but had encouraged the men and lied about her age had a direct 

impact on Samara as it influenced what services she was referred to by ***** 

healthcare providers in 2018. Whilst Samara had lied about her age, and this would 

have impacted on the possibility of a successful prosecution the phrases used by the 

police officer to relate this could have influenced how Samara was responded to or 

imply that she was to blame for what happened to her. 

 

9.10 The confusion regarding who would undertake S47 enquiries between WYP and 

Cambridgeshire police led to a delay in these being carried out and it is unclear why 

this confusion occurred. 

 

9.11 In summary, whilst there were no significant or prolific concerns about how agencies 

worked together to safeguard Samara the author of this report considers that without 

the challenge of the SHP this might not always have been the case.  
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9.12 Despite the examples of good practice and swift agency responses described above 

there was a delay in providing Samara with therapeutic interventions which may have 

contributed to her going missing in Cambridgeshire as, at that stage, she did not 

recognise that she was being exploited. Samara suffered significant harm and was 

trafficked, raped and sexually exploited. This was compounded by the not guilty 

verdict and her family’s response caused her further distress. 

 

9.13 There may well still be learning from Samara’s case about the ‘cultural’ response of 

family and community to CSE and TBP and partners may wish to focus upon this in 

their plans following this review.  

Case 4 -Ruby 

10.0 Brief Background 

10.1 The review considered events between May 2001 and May 2019 

 

10.2 Ruby is now aged 18 and is a ‘care leaver’. Her parents separated when she was 

aged three and at the age of five, when living with her father and stepmother, Ruby 

experienced the sudden death of her mother.  

 

10.3 Records indicate that Ruby experienced difficulties in reception class and at primary 

school where her behaviour was described as difficult and this was thought, at the 

time, to be due to her bereavement. She moved schools but her behaviours 

continued, becoming more apparent in secondary school and leading to a number of 

fixed term exclusions. Concerns related to her behaviour but there were also 

concerns about possible sexual exploitation and she was linked to two different 

known sex offenders.     

    

10.4 In 2014 Ruby was diagnosed as having a disorder which gave context to some of her 

behavioural difficulties. Ruby was also assessed as having a borderline learning 

difficulty and ADHD. 

 

10.5 She became a looked after child in 2015 after her father and stepmother said they 

could no longer cope with her behaviour. After becoming looked after Ruby was 

placed in 14 different placements and all but 3 of these have been out of the Bradford 

area. In all her placements, other than those that provided a secure environment, 

there have been significant issues regarding Ruby going missing and her 

vulnerability to exploitation. Ruby was placed in 2 different ‘Secure’ placements, 8 

months in a Secure Children’s Home under Secure (welfare) criteria, and 6 months in 

a Mental Health Hospital under Mental Health criteria.  

 

10.6 Ruby has also prolifically self-harmed and has required hospital admissions and 

general anaesthesia on occasions. The most serious incidents of self-harm have 

been focused on her genitals. 

 

10.7 Ruby has also been described as threatening and aggressive towards staff within her 

placements at times.  
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11.0 Key Practice and other Events 

11.1 Ruby’s vulnerability to CSE was first recorded in October 2014 when she was linked 

to a suspected sex offender. It is not clear from agency records that this led to a CSE 

assessment or what work was done with Ruby in respect of this. WYP records show 

a police CSE occurrence was recorded and that she was working with ‘Turnaround’ 

and an allocated social worker after this. She was linked to a different suspected sex 

offender in January 2015. Nine missing from home episodes were recorded between 

March 2013 and May 2015.  

 

11.2 Ruby became a child looked after in March 2015. 

 

11.3 Ruby experienced an unsettled school life and was permanently excluded from her 

secondary school in 2014. In May 2014 she joined a Special School (SEMH) in 

Bradford where she remained for 12 months. 

 

11.4 In July 2015 a CSE Risk assessment was completed. Ruby was assessed as at 

‘medium risk.’ This was 9 months after the first recording of a link to a suspected sex 

offender. This assessment was reduced to ‘low risk’ in December 2017.  

 

11.5 In August 2018 Ruby returned to Bradford from an out of area placement and was 

placed in a local supported accommodation placement. Within days there were 

episodes when Ruby went missing and there was also an increasing number of self-

harm incidents which required hospital admissions. Throughout August 2018 her 

distress continued and she frequently self-harmed and went missing. 

 

11.6 Staff at the placement told the police following one incident where Ruby had 

threatened a staff member that Ruby was not getting the help she needed and that 

they were not able to meet her needs. 

 

11.7 Concerns were raised by hospital staff about the appropriateness of the placement 

staff’s behaviour when they accompanied Ruby to hospital when she was admitted 

for an infection, and they refused to sit with her in case they caught her infection. 

 

11.8 In August 2018 a strategy meeting was held, and the placement gave seven days’ 

notice to end Ruby’s placement due to her behaviour. The strategy meeting focused 

on Ruby’s difficult behaviours and the issue of finding a placement for her rather than 

her distress. There was no discussion of the CSE risk to Ruby or her increasing 

levels of distress and the nature of her self-harming. 

 

11.9 Over the next three days Ruby went missing a further three times and the police 

recorded concerns that she was at risk of CSE as she reported having met ‘friends’ 

from Northampton and Leeds but would not say who these people were. 

 

11.10 In early September Ruby met with a 47-year-old man that she had met online. She 

described being abducted and sexually assaulted by the man who also threatened to 

kill her. The police issued the suspect with a Child Abduction Warning Notice 

(CAWN) and informed CSC and the CSE MASH for consideration of a ‘CSE Flag’ 
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against Ruby’s name. The offence was investigated but there was insufficient 

evidence to charge. 

 

11.11 Throughout September 2018 it is recorded in agency chronologies that: 

 Ruby met with a 32-year-old male with whom she shared alcohol and 

cigarettes,  

 She was admitted to hospital after taking medications given to her by a male,  

 Had pregnancy tests (negative) following unprotected sex,  

 Had said she will travel to Afghanistan on a false passport to enter into a 

marriage. 

 Numerous missing episodes. 

 

11.12 In late September 2018 Ruby’s social worker responded to an email contact from 

WYP which highlighted concerns about CSE, and the response was that the SW was 

not aware of Ruby meeting with a 47-year-old male and that it was her belief that 

Ruby was not at risk of CSE. 

 

11.13 In early October the manager of the placement in Bradford told a police officer that 

Ruby had been raped but she was ‘not sure if she should mention it’. The police 

recorded a crime and investigated but Ruby was unwilling to provide an evidential 

account. A suspect was interviewed, but there was insufficient evidence to charge. 

 

11.14 Later in October Ruby was discussed at the CSE meeting as the police had received 

an Information Report that she was being picked up by a male who had just been 

released from prison, on licence managed by Probation and flagged as a MARAC 

Offender with a history of befriending vulnerable young people and engaging in 

abusive behaviour. 

 

11.15 In mid-October the police located Ruby who had been reported missing by the 

placement. She was described as being very quiet and stated that she had been in 

car with two males and that they had dropped her off at a shopping centre. 

 

11.16 On the same day a Strategy Discussion initiated by the police took place. The 

Strategy Discussion recorded that the risks to Ruby “are escalating. She is said to be 

getting into cars with unknown males and has recently reported a rape by one of her 

peers. Her mental health remains un-assessed and she continues to place herself at 

risk of injury by serious self-ham. There are no new lines of enquiry which would 

warrant triggering S47 enquiries however, the evidence suggests that Ruby is 

actively being sexually exploited by person or persons unknown. We do not feel 

confident that she always has the ability to give informed consent to sexual activity as 

her mental health fluctuates.” 

 

11.17 The following day WYP placed a ‘High Risk CSE’ flag against Ruby’s name. Within 

three days WYP received information that Ruby had been taken to a different area 

for the purposes of sexual exploitation. 
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11.18 In late October 2018 Ruby, whilst having a medical in respect of an alleged rape, 

disclosed a further rape. The following day Ruby was reassessed by CSC as being at 

high risk of CSE using a formal CSE Risk Assessment. 

 

11.19 Also in late October 2018 WYP used the West Yorkshire Safeguarding Consortium 

Escalation procedure to resolve professional disagreement about safeguarding Ruby 

between Police and CSC. This involved a Safeguarding Review of Ruby’s case by a 

Detective Inspector (DI). The DI records “I have recommended that the current care 

plan is insufficient for Ruby, *** the private provider is not keeping her safe, CAHMS 

intervention is not working and BD social care are not keeping her safe effectively 

and consistently and due to her mental health concerns there are serious concerns 

that she may self-harm. She has complex mental health problems, learning 

disabilities and has been previously sectioned and placed in secure accommodation.  

Firm and positive action is requested from social care, and this has been reviewed at 

professional planning meetings and a further meeting requested to escalate the risk 

with CSC has been delayed by them.  This case has now been escalated for urgent 

review and intervention by senior BD CSC management.  Current CSE investigations 

are ongoing also at this time stemming from missing occurrences, The CSE team are 

managing this young person as a high risk CSE victim with a firm risk management 

and plan in place.  My firm recommendation to CSC is that she is placed into a 

secure unit or at the very least removed from **** placement and put into a 2-1 

therapeutic placement to protect her and effectively safeguard this is being escalated 

and previously requests have been declined, escalation of this to senior management 

from BD social care on 26/10.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           

 She was missing 12 times in the last 3 weeks but there have been over 22 calls for 

service for Ruby in October alone. This has been raised and taken up with the home. 

A professionals meeting was held last week with SW, CAHMS and the home, further 

one was requested this week and has been put back by CSC to next Monday.” 

 

11.20 During a week in late October Ruby went missing four times and reported to the 

police that she had been raped (this was her third allegation of rape). She also 

reported having got into a car with a male who told her he would buy some cannabis. 

Ruby reported that she left the car and did not return. 

 

11.21 On a date in late October 2018 Ruby was detained by WYP under S136 of the 

Mental Health Act having been found with shards of glass and tin in her possession. 

Ruby was later discharged from hospital. 

 

11.22 In early November 2018, following a Team around the Child (TAC) meeting, Ruby 

was referred by CSC to the Barnardo’s CSE Service. 

 

11.23 Also in early November Ruby was found by the police after going missing and she 

reported that she had been met by older males who brought her alcohol and drove 

her around in their vehicles. Ruby had broken glass, a condom, a lighter and £10 

cash in her pocket. Within two days Ruby was again found by the police and was 

intoxicated and stated that she had been given drugs by people whose cars she had 

got into. 
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11.24 In mid- November 2018 Ruby disclosed to health practitioners that she had been 

raped after being picked up by two males in a car outside the placement address. 

 

11.25 Also in mid-November 2018 the Barnardo’s CSE Worker met with Ruby for the first 

time and reported that Ruby engaged well. Throughout the rest of November 2018 

Ruby:  

 went missing ten times. 

 was picked up by men in cars. 

 was found to have £750 cash in her possession and told different stories about 

how she had acquired it. 

 was taken to a flat with three men. 

 was found semi-conscious and drunk in the street. 

 was admitted to hospital with an acute infection. (Whilst Ruby was an inpatient 

the placement staff reported that she had been visited by a male who was 

supplying her with drugs and ‘prostituting her’. This information was not shared 

with CSC). 

 Missed two cognitive assessment appointments with CAMHS (possibly as she 

was an inpatient at that time) 

 

11.26 In late November 2018 the police took Ruby in to police protection for her own safety. 

 

11.27 Practitioners attended TAC meetings and a new out of area placement for Ruby was 

discussed as was cognitive testing in relation to Ruby’s learning difficulties. 

 

11.28 In early December 2018 WYP record that they had again raised concerns about 

Ruby’s safety and specifically the suitability of her placement with CSC. 

 

11.29 Throughout December 2018 Ruby continued to go missing, continued to self-harm, 

was taking various drugs, and reported having sex with men in exchange for drugs 

and money. 

 

11.30 By late December the police issued CAWNS to four men suspected of harbouring 

Ruby. 

 

11.31 In the last week in December 2018 Ruby reported that she had been sexually 

assaulted by a man in a car. She later denied this. 

 

11.32 In late December 2018 Ruby was arrested and charged with causing criminal 

damage at the placement. She was held in custody where she reported that she had 

been sexually assaulted the evening before. 

 

11.33 On 1st January 2019 WYP escalated their concerns to Senior Management at CSC 

for the second time using the West Yorkshire Safeguarding Consortium Escalation 

procedures.  

 

11.34 In the second week in January 2019 a TAC meeting was held, and it was recorded 

that Ruby was now dressing in Muslim clothing and talking of getting married and 
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going to Afghanistan. It was noted that CSC planned to move her out of area by the 

end of the month and planned to remove her mobile phone. Due to the level of 

concern an urgent strategy meeting was convened. 

 

11.35 By mid-January 2019 it was recognised that the grooming and exploitation Ruby was 

subject to also met the definitions of *Modern Slavery as it was believed that she was 

being groomed and trafficked by unknown / unidentified persons for the purpose of 

sexual abuse. 

* The Modern Slavery Act 2015 is designed to tackle slavery in the UK and 

consolidates previous offences relating to trafficking and slavery. Slavery/Trafficking 

involves the exploitation of people/children who are coerced, deceived, forced into, or 

expected to accept, a life of abuse, servitude or inhumane and degrading treatment. 

 

11.36 In the third week in January Ruby was moved out of area to a different placement 

where she remained until March 2019. It was noted that she continued to self-harm, 

go missing, be aggressive towards staff and be sexually exploited and abused.  

 

11.37 In March 2019 Ruby returned to Bradford where she was placed in three different 

placements within 6 days. Throughout March 2019 Ruby continued to self-harm and 

was further sexually assaulted and exploited.  

 

11.38 In Ruby’s case every allegation was recorded and investigated by WYP. 

 

11.39 In April 2019 Ruby reached the age of 18.  

12.0 Key Themes Ruby 

12.1 The root cause of Ruby’s early behavioural and emotional difficulties may well be a 

combination of the separation from and subsequent sudden loss of her mother, the 

physical and cognitive impacts of a chromosomal disorder, a diagnosis of ADHD, and 

the fractured relationship with her father, stepmother and half sibling. 

 

12.2 There was an almost exclusive focus by CSC and the placement staff on Ruby’s 

behaviour and the impact of this on residential placement staff at a critical time for 

Ruby (huge escalation in risk and harm from CSE) rather than a focus on Ruby’s 

behaviour as a manifestation of distress or as a symptom of sexual exploitation. 

 

12.3 Despite evidence of increasing risk there was no assessment or recognition of 

Ruby’s vulnerability to CSE by her SW who perceived Ruby as low risk. (September 

2018) 

 

12.4 There were professional disputes between the police and CSC in respect of the risk 

to Ruby and the ability of her placement to keep her safe. The police recognised the 

risk to her and also the unsuitability of her placement. 

 

12.5 Ruby moved placements 14 times and the scarcity of suitable placements locally was 

noted by practitioners. Her move out of area did not keep her safe and in fact, the 

area to which she moved has higher than average reported CSE rates than the rest 

of the country.  
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12.6 Ruby had a number of fixed term and a final permanent exclusion from school and 

suffered a disruptive education journey which further compounded her vulnerability 

and isolation.  

 

12.7 Ruby began to dress in ‘Muslim clothing’ in January 2019 and talked about getting 

married and moving to Afghanistan. It is not clear from agency records at that point in 

time how this was responded to. This does not appear to have been assessed as a 

sign of grooming or exploitation or to have triggered Prevent: Protecting children from 

radicalisation strategies. 

 

12.8 At this point in time Ruby has a diagnosis of ADHD, a chromosomal disorder and 

specific learning difficulties and her understanding of her world and her life 

experiences are not always consistent with her age. “She is an eight-year-old in an 

18-year-olds body” (Reflections from a practitioner who attended the learning 

event), meaning that assumptions cannot be made about her understanding of 

consent, healthy relationships and what constitutes abuse.  

 

Case 5 Ben 

13.0 Brief Background 

13.1 The review considered events between early 2004 and the summer of 2019. 

 

13.2 There were concerns throughout Ben’s childhood about physical abuse, neglect, and 

domestic abuse when he was aged six there were physical indications that Ben may 

have been sexually abused. 

 

13.3 Agencies became aware in 2014 that there were concerns about sexual exploitation 

in respect of Ben’s wider family in another area. Ben exhibited sexualised behaviour 

from the age of ten and it was known that he had watched pornography. In 2012 it 

was noted that he was a potential risk to his sisters if ‘boundaries’ were not put into 

place. There is nothing in agency records which describes what this risk may have 

been. 

 

13.4 In November 2016 Ben was first assessed as being at ‘low’ risk of CSE after having 

disclosed being ‘sexually active’ with an older girl. He was aged 12 at this point in 

time.  

 

13.5 Ben and his siblings were made subjects of child protection arrangements several 

times. In 2017, when he was 13, Ben’s child protection plan was in place because of 

sexual abuse. He suffered sexual harm throughout 2016 and 2017 and was also 

using cannabis, alcohol and cocaine during this time. Ben’s behaviour was, on 

occasion, violent within the family home and at school and he went missing several 

times. Ben was permanently excluded from three schools and spent long periods of 

time not in education. He was known to be at risk of sexual exploitation from older 

males and an older female, and in 2018 and 2019 made threats and attempts to take 

his own life. 
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14.0 Key Practice and other Events 

14.1 Ben and his siblings were made subjects of a Child Protection Plan in 2010 because 

of neglect. There were also concerns about non-accidental injuries and signs of 

potential sexual abuse of Ben and one of his siblings. 

 

14.2 In 2012 the family moved to another area prior to which the children had been 

removed from Child Protection arrangements and CAF arrangements were agreed. 

CSC shared this information with CSC in the family’s new area.  In March 2013 S47 

Enquiries were instigated by the new area’s CSC following an injury to Ben caused 

by his father. The family were subject to Child in Need arrangements at that time. 

 

14.3 In 2014 Ben’s parents separated and he, his mother and siblings returned to live in 

Bradford. Bradford CSC assessed the family’s needs and issues with Ben’s 

behaviour were noted. Ben went to live with his father, who had also returned to 

Bradford in 2014 and back to his mother’s address shortly afterwards.   

 

14.4 In 2014 Ben underwent a Child Protection medical for an injury caused by his father 

kicking him. He underwent a further Child Protection medical later in 2014 for an 

injury to his arm caused by his father. 

 

14.5 By the end of 2014 Ben’s mother and father signed a contract of expectation that 

father would not have unsupervised contact with the children.  

 

14.6 Early in 2015 a referral to CAMHS was made for Ben. His behaviour was 

problematic. 

 

14.7 In spring 2015, Ben underwent a child protection medical after his mother assaulted 

him. Ben was made subject of child protection arrangements because of physical 

abuse. The other children were subject to Child in Need (CIN) arrangements. This 

assault was recorded by WYP, but CSC were the lead agency and no further action 

was taken by WYP. 

 

14.8 By summer 2015 Ben had moved to live with his father in another area as his mother 

was struggling to cope with his behaviours.  Early in 2016 Ben returned to Bradford 

to live with his mother. He had remained on a CPP throughout the time he lived with 

his father and these arrangements continued when he returned to Bradford. 

 

14.09 It was noted at the time he returned to Bradford that he was not registered with a GP 

or with a dentist. Ben’s dental care had been an issue before he moved out of the 

area when his dental health had begun to deteriorate. 

 

14.10 Ben’s behaviour issues and distress increased during this time and the police were 

called following Ben becoming violent and causing damage in the family home. 
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14.11 In 2016 following a report by his mother that Ben was searching the internet for 

methods to kill himself a specialist National CAMHS became involved but could not 

provide crisis support to Ben. 

 

14.12 In 2016 it was known that Ben’s father and mother were planning a reconciliation and 

that his father would move into the family home. Ben stated that he did not want his 

father to move in with them and that he hit him and that he was afraid of him. At this 

time another of Ben’s siblings underwent a child protection medical for a cigarette 

burn to her arm which she said had been caused by her father. Several injuries were 

noted including the burn. 

 

14.13 During 2016 the police were called on a number of occasions when Ben was 

aggressive and distressed. It was reported that a family member was supplying Ben 

with cannabis. Ben was aged 12 at this point. 

 

14.14 In 2016 Ben attempted to seriously injure or kill himself at school. He received a 5-

day fixed term exclusion. 

 

14.15 Also in late summer 2016 CSC record that a family member of Ben’s who lives in a 

different area is a violent ex-offender. Ben had a close attachment to his uncle. It was 

also recorded by CSC that “There have been unconfirmed reports that members of 

Ben’s family have been involved in CSE, the parents do appear to be very protective 

of their children in this area, so it is expected that they would be open an honest with 

professionals if they became aware of further information”. It was also recorded that 

“Ben’s sexualised behaviour may become a problem for his sisters if the parents do 

not work together to support him by creating appropriate boundaries”. There is no 

indication that Ben was considered as a potential victim of sexual abuse at this time. 

 

14.16 In late 2016 Ben disclosed that he had had sex with an older girl. His father had 

supplied him with condoms on his request. He was aged 12 at this point in time. A 

Niche CSE occurrence was created and a Risk Assessment document indicating that 

Ben was at Low Risk of CSE was attached by WYP. 

 

14.17 A CSC record “There is no direct evidence to suggest that Ben is being actively 

groomed or at risk of CSE. However, he is a very vulnerable young person who can 

easily be led in an attempt to get accepted and subsequently gets exploited. From 

conversations with the specialist national CAMHS, who are currently involved in 

some therapeutic work with Ben, he appears to be craving intimacy and a 

connection, leaving him even more vulnerable to possible exploitation. He is a sad 

little boy with a lot of frustrations about his disabled identity. If Ben were to start an 

intimate relationship, he could not cope with the rejection when this finished as he 

does not have the emotional coping mechanisms to deal with this.  

 

14.18 School raised concerns that ‘another child’ and Ben have recently been frequenting a 

certain man`s flat, the man is believed to be in his 40s, lives alone and a close 

associate of Ben’s relative who is currently serving a jail term in prison. 
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14.19 Ben is sexually active, he is only 12 years old and has been in a relationship with an 

older girl, he is known to ask for condoms from various sources but refuses to 

disclose who his sexual partner is which raises more concerns”. 

 

14.20 In late 2016 a strategy discussion took place as Ben was visited by his social worker 

who recorded that Ben informed her that he had had sex with a girl who was a few 

years older. The social worker noted that this could be statutory rape as Ben was 

only 12 years old.  

 

14.21 WYP note in early 2017 that “The victims do not support a prosecution; the evidential 

threshold is not met to approach CPS, and it is clearly not in the public interest. 

Therefore, no further investigation is required in relation to this offence”.  

   

14.22 In early February the Child Protection Review Conference minutes note that “The 

focus of this meeting has mainly been on Ben, and it is understandable that people 

are worried about his past and present behaviour. There is a worry about the risk he 

poses to those around him, and school have had to make a difficult decision 

regarding Ben’s academic future. Ben has displayed troubling behaviour and it has 

been reported that he is involved in what has been described as a 'sexual 

relationship' with an older girl – which is an on-going police investigation. There are 

worries that Ben is not emotionally mature enough to deal with the relationship or 

how he would react should the relationship end, regardless of the legal view. There 

are concerns about the level of distress that Ben is feeling. Ben’s needs must be 

assessed and addressed in order for the situation to improve”.  

 

14.23 Ben was subject to child protection arrangements at that point in time because of 

sexual abuse with emotional harm also highlighted. 

 

14.24 At the end of February 2017 CSC recorded that the CSE MASH had completed their 

assessment of Ben and had closed the case. 

 

14.25 In spring 2017 the police were called to Ben’s home as he was causing damage and 

out of control.  

 

14.26 At the April 2017 Child Protection Review Conference it was noted that there were 

still concerns about Ben’s vulnerability to CSE and that he was not in education at 

that time. The child protection arrangements were ended, and Child in Need 

arrangements agreed. 

 

14.27 In late spring 2017 Ben witnessed a sexual offence which took place at Ben’s home. 

Ben was discussed at the daily CSE Meeting and was thought to be at low risk of 

CSE as there was no information to suggest that he was being exploited or trafficked. 

 

14.28 Again in late spring 2017 a ** year old girl reported to the police that she had had sex 

with Ben this led to a strategy meeting and the outcome was that support around 

sexual health would be offered to Ben (he was at this point attending a residential 

school in another area). 
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14.29 In late spring 2017 one of Ben’s younger siblings disclosed serious sexual abuse. It 

was noted by CSC that other victims were ‘coming forward’.  

 

14.30 In summer 2017 Ben was excluded from the residential school and returned home 

the same day. The police were later called to the family home as he was in 

possession of a knife and was causing damage to the property and neighbour’s 

gardens. The police were called again two days later as Ben was breaking windows 

and brandishing a metal bar. He was arrested (now aged 13) and taken into custody. 

He was released without charge the following day. 

 

14.31 Throughout summer of 2017 Ben continued to be in extreme distress and the police 

were called on further occasions. CSC attempted to place Ben in residential care, but 

he caused damage to one placement and ran away from another. 

 

14.32 In mid- summer CAMHS received an assessment from the specialist national 

CAMHS which stated that Ben is “not considered to have mental health disorder. He 

struggles with emotional regulation but without the security of a permanent 

placement both educationally and at home therapeutic work has made little 

difference. The home situation exposes Ben to ongoing trauma and feeling of 

isolation and rejection”. 

 

14.33 Later that month the police seized devices from Ben who had disclosed that he and 

other friends had been taking indecent photographs of themselves and sharing them 

online. 

 

14.34 Also later that month Ben’s father called the police to report Ben missing and 

believed that he was going to see an 18-year-old male who had been issued with a 

Child Abduction Warning Notice (CAWN) and had been encouraging Ben to 

abscond. 

 

14.35 In late summer Ben’s father reported that the 18-year-old male had uploaded a video 

to social media of Ben masturbating. Also, in late summer Ben was discussed at a 

CSE meeting and was assessed as at low risk of CSE. Throughout the following 

days the police received intelligence that the 18-year-old male was also supplying 

Ben with cannabis. The police records indicate that there were difficulties in obtaining 

appropriate interpretation for Ben during their investigations. 

 

14.36 In early autumn 2017 CSC carried out a single agency assessment. The issues 

highlighted included: 

 Boundaries and routine 

 Expectations  

 Drug misuse  

 Peer Group  

 Underage Sexual Activity   

 Challenging Behaviour – home & school  

 Physical Assault of Mother – punch to face.  

 Threats to shoot family.   
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 Intimidation of parents/ siblings – Ben’s younger sister believed he had a 

gun.    

 Damage to property – trashed bedroom  

 Verbal outbursts – swearing. 

 

14.37 It was also recorded that “There are CSE concerns for Ben while in the community 

and concerns about his friendship with an 18-year-old who has a harbouring notice 

against another child. CSC are worried that if Ben is not adequately monitored, he 

will be at risk of being exploited”. 

 

14.38 In late November a strategy discussion took place following Ben’s father raising 

concerns about Ben's association with older males, one of whom was an older family 

member and also some communication with an unidentified male approximately 30 

years old online. It was noted that “Ben's family member is apparently associating 

with adult Asian males who are regularly having sex with young boys. Ben's online 

‘chats’ are linked to his mother's tablet, so they are getting to see what he is doing.  

Recently, Ben's behaviour has significantly deteriorated. Father stated that he has 

made a weapon by hammering nails into a broom handle, but it is not known why.  

 

14.39 Assessed as low risk of CSE and no actual disclosures have been made as yet in 

term of sexual contact or inappropriate messages / pictures”. 

 

14.40 Later in 2017 the police were informed by Ben’s father that an indecent image of a 

man had been found on Ben’s device and that the male had indecent images of Ben. 

It was noted that there was a link to an investigation being undertaken by South 

Yorkshire Police. 

 

14.41 At the end of 2017 Ben went missing from home and returned at 5am. The police had 

intelligence that contact may have been made by an adult male with Ben via social 

media. The adult male had previously been arrested for meeting a child. Again, there 

were problems in accessing appropriate interpretation throughout this period and 

Ben’s father often acted as interpreter. 

 

14.42 In early 2018 Ben went missing from home and on one occasion was found at a 

house party and admitted smoking cannabis. He was aged 13 at this point. 

 

14.43 Following a visit to the GP by Ben’s father Ben’s GP records show an entry from 

community pharmacist CP1:  Plan: To book Ben in for a 20-minute appointment slot 

with clinician to do PHQ9, GAD score and general assessment of mental wellbeing. 

To decide next steps how to proceed with Ben based on the outcome of this 

consultation: 

 Re-refer to CAMHS but Ben may refuse. 

 To speak to father and ask him about the input from the specialist national 

CAMHS. 

 Refer to paediatrics. 

  To chase up and ask social services to discuss how we can assist with this 

boy. 
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14.44 Ben was not taken to the appointment with a GP which was subsequently made for 

him. 

 

14.45 In early summer 2018 Ben went missing from home. He returned a day later and told 

WYP who conducted a ‘return home interview’ who he had been with and that he had 

taken cannabis and cocaine. 

 

14.46 In summer 2018 Ben was admitted to hospital following an incident at home during 

which he dropped a TV onto his foot. His father interpreted throughout the initial 

attendance at the A & E department and said that Ben had also threatened to jump 

from a window. Ben was admitted to a children’s ward and staff did attempt to book 

an interpreter but were unable to do so. Ben was discharged the following day having 

been seen by CAMHS. 

 

14.47 In mid- summer 2018 a strategy meeting was held, and a decision made to hold an 

ICPC. The ICPC was held, and Ben and his siblings were made subject to CP 

arrangements for emotional and physical harm. It was noted that Ben was “at risk of 

CSE, use of cannabis, cocaine and alcohol, deliberate self-harm and violent”. 

 

14.48 At a core group meeting in autumn 2018 there was significant focus on the sexual 

abuse of Ben’s sibling and how this was impacting upon her wellbeing and 

behaviour.  In contrast the focus on Ben was on his “ability to manage his emotions 

when things become very difficult, his choice to smoke cannabis to help him sleep 

and his relationship with his parents, friends and sisters”. 

 

14.49 In late 2018 CSC carried out a Case Audit of their involvement with Ben’s family. The 

Auditor notes “The case has been judged as inadequate as the child cannot be 

assessed as safe. Although subject to a CP plan and a safety plan being put in place 

following a recent case review the case focusses on Ben’s behaviour as the problem 

and seen as a naughty child rather than an abused child. There are multiple risk 

factors for Ben which increases his level of vulnerability to be exploited. Missing 

episodes have not been followed through, the CSE risk assessment is not updated. 

The case notes and assessments and CP plans indicates that Ben is subjected to 

physical chastisement when this is physical abuse as defined in the NSPCC 

definition. Consideration has not been given to Ben’s response and behaviours are 

attributed to his abuse”.   

 

14.50 Also in late 2018 WYP reviewed Ben’s ‘CSE Status’ and record that Ben has been 

“Flagged as Low Risk CSE since 11.05.2017. The report endorsed that an updated 

CSE Risk Assessment requested on 13.11.2018 was still awaited, notes last CSE 

related information was December 2017. The review agreed to close the occurrence 

and remove CSE flags”. 

 

14.51 In early 2019 a professionals meeting was held. The meeting had been arranged by 

specialist national CAMHS who explained “Towards the end of 2018 Leeds and York 

Partnership Foundation Trust (LYPFT) CAMHS practitioners contacted the 

safeguarding team for advice regarding concerns for a number of disabled children 
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who were all related. Specialist CAMHS staff were working with two children in two of 

the families which placed them in a unique position to identify safeguarding concerns. 

Staff were concerned they did not have a full picture of the children’s circumstances”. 

 

14.52 The safeguarding concerns raised at the professionals meeting included: 

 Previous and ongoing potential CSE  

 Young person engaging in drug use.  

  Potential financial exploitation of a young person from extended adult family 

members.  

  

14.53 There were also a number of unknown suspected risks: 

 Alleged extended adult family members encouraging young persons to 

become involved with the selling of drugs, potential coercion. 

  Previous allegations of cannabis cultivation  

 Teenage pregnancy 

 Extra familial threats to a young person 

 Potential criminal activity amongst adults including drug use/selling and 

sexual offences, risks were unknown, intelligence unknown.  

 Younger children in the household without a voice 

  Members of the family interpreting for agencies  

  Children not having the opportunity to be seen alone. 

  Potential disguised compliance   

 

14.54 Concerns were also raised about the availability and reliability of interpreters. 

 

14.55 It was agreed that the meeting had been useful and had enabled professionals to 

share information and concerns. Actions were agreed for individual professionals, 

and it was agreed that a further meeting would be held.  

 

14.56 However, it appears that the social worker who attended the meeting left his/ her post 

shortly after the meeting and there is no record of what actions he or she agreed to 

take or that information was shared at a hand –over of the case to a new social 

worker.  

 

14.57 In essence nothing changed for Ben or the other children in the family as a 

consequence of the professionals meeting. 

 

14.58 When he was fifteen, Ben was ‘found in bed’ with an older female friend from another 

area.  Following a full police investigation, there was no further action in relation to 

the sexual activity with a child as there was insufficient evidence and Ben, and a 

witness were unwilling to provide evidence. The suspect denied that any sexual 

activity took place and Ben was placed in an emergency foster care placement but 

returned home a day later.  

 

14.59 There followed a distressing number of incidents for Ben including a video recording 

of him ‘having a sexual relationship’ being sent to his mother. 
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15.0 Key Themes Ben 

15.1 Ben experienced neglect and physical, emotional abuse and was exposed to 

domestic abuse from a very young age. It is also possible that Ben was sexually 

abused at the age of 6 however this was not explored by professionals at the time. 

His disability meant that he was isolated and the use of family members as 

interpreters meant his voice was mediated by them and ran the risk that his own 

voice was rarely heard.  

 

15.2 Ben’s father in particular was regularly relied upon to interpret for Ben and other 

family members. This was unsafe and further compounded Ben’s isolation and lack 

of voice. Professionals noted that Ben’s father was extremely controlling and that he 

accompanied Ben and his siblings to medical and other appointments. 

 

15.3 The focus of interventions and assessments in respect of Ben was his behaviour and 

aggression. Ben’s distress and vulnerability was not always seen as an indicator that 

he was possibly being sexually exploited or abused.  

 

15.4 The difference in how risk and need was ‘framed’ in relation to Ben and his female 

sibling was stark. For example, at a core group meeting in October 2018 it is 

recorded that.   

 

“Ben has been involved in sexual incidents and is hanging around with those 

involved in drugs, whilst his sibling has been sexually abused”.  

 

“For sibling, we are worried about the impact of the sexual abuse she has 

suffered upon her emotional health and understanding. Sibling will often show 

her emotional difficulties through behaviour before expressing this verbally”.  

 

“For Ben, we are worried about his ability to manage his emotions when 

things become very difficult, his choice to smoke cannabis to help him sleep 

and his relationship with his parents, friends and sisters”. 

 

15.5 The language used by other agencies in respect of the sexual exploitation of Ben 

was also of note. For example, there were references to ‘underage sexual activity’ 

and ‘sexual relationships and that Ben was ‘sexually active and had been in a 

relationship with a 16-year-old girl’. Ben was, at that point aged 12. In UK law a child 

under 13 does not, in any circumstances, have the legal capacity to consent to any 

form of sexual activity. These are offences of strict liability as regards to age, and 

there is no defence of reasonable belief in relation to the age of the complainant. 

 

15.6 The review panel members and independent reviewer considered how different 

agency and individual practitioner responses may have been if Ben was a girl.  

Would, for example a 12-year-old girl have been described as having a sexual 

relationship with a 15 or 16-year-old boy?  
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15.7 The number of time Ben’s parents called the police in respect of Ben’s aggression is 

also notable. WYP appropriately identified that Ben was a vulnerable child and 

shared information with agencies after each incident (with a few exceptions). 

However, this pattern of Ben’s father calling the police and/ or throwing Ben out of 

the family home after an allegation of assault was not analysed and was taken at 

face value by professionals as a consequence of Ben’s aggressive behaviour. 

 

15.8 Furthermore, throughout the entire period of time included in this review Ben’s 

parents were physically assaulting their children. Ben’s father presented an 

unchallenged version of events after each incident involving Ben as alleged 

perpetrator. Ben remained voiceless and/ or his father interpreted for him. There was 

no analysis of how the incidents were triggered and what the frequency of incidents 

meant in terms of risk and harm to Ben.  

 

15.9 None of the children called the police when they were assaulted (they told other 

adults) and it does not appear that prosecution of the parents for assault was 

considered apart from one occasion in 2014 when a police investigation, including 

interview of Ben’s father as a suspect, took place. Consideration of prosecution 

concluded that there was insufficient evidence to proceed.  Ben was a very young 

child when the police were first called to an incident involving him as the ‘perpetrator’ 

and the number of further such incidents is of concern. 

 

15.10 The failure to make consistent use of suitably experienced and qualified interpreters 

in this case is of immediate and urgent concern. Ben has remained largely voiceless 

and incredibly isolated. This has compounded the neglect and the physical and 

emotional abuse he has experienced and has also compounded his vulnerability to 

CSE and criminal exploitation. 

 

15.11 The difficulty for any child with severe communication difficulties to disclose sexual 

abuse cannot be understated. This difficulty, in part, relates to how such children 

‘frame’ what is happening to them because of the ‘abstract’ nature of abuse and the 

subtlety of language needed to communicate very distressing and sensitive 

information and feelings. 

 

15.12 Ben was not in education for significant periods of time covered by this review which 

was an additional risk factor and compounded his vulnerability and isolation. 

 

16.0 Case File Audit 

16.1 This report was also informed by the findings from an of five cases which were 

selected at random to provide insight into much more recent practice. The period 

reviewed in the cases audited is at least two years and ends in 2020. The 

methodology involved a set of questions based upon emerging learning themes from 

this review, previous case audits and JTAI inspection criteria. The audit involved 

extensive case auditing of CSC records and telephone interviews with a sample of 

the social workers. These audits have all been followed up internally within CSC.  
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16.2 All five of the CSC cases evidenced high levels of complexity both within the family 

but also from a contextual perspective.  The children had all experienced adverse 

childhood experiences, drug/alcohol misuse, domestic abuse, including violence 

within the home and all were known to CSC before the time period of the audits. All 

the children are female, with three of the children being from a BAME family. Of the 

five children 2 have since given birth and a third is pregnant (she became pregnant 

after her 18th birthday). The police conducted research in support of this audit in 

relation to five separate children at risk of CSE and also in relation to a number of 

perpetrators.  

 

16.3 There was some evidence of good practice.  

a) Vulnerabilities were recognised and referred in a timely manner to Children 

Social Care. 

b) Contextual risk factors were identified. 

c) Disruption activity and investigations were consistently undertaken (but non-

engagement impacts on successful outcomes).  

d) Good practice seen in plans–  

 separating out areas of risk, providing a detailed balance of 

expectations for the child, prompts and partner responsibilities.  

 use of trigger plans for missing episodes. 

 use of dedicated resource to provide 1-1 support. 

 use of a charity in developing positive pathways. 

 Effective working practices between partners in sharing information 

and diagnosing complex health conditions which are affecting 

vulnerability and the child’s progress.  

 

17.0 Police Audit 

17.1 Bradford District Police also conducted an analysis of case records of five victims of 

CSE and 10 perpetrators of CSE. The police analysis found that. 

a) In a two-year period five victims of CSE suffered a total of 89 sexual offences, 

18 violent offences and 269 missing occurrences, across all 5 of the children. 

b) All five victims of CSE were recorded as suspects in crimes and violent 

offences featured the most (four of the five children) 

c) Seven of the ten perpetrators were victims in crimes. Violent offences 

featured the most (four out of five children) 

d) Across the ten male perpetrators, a total of 44 sexual offences for all ten; 61 

violent offences in 8/10 me; drugs cases 6/10 men and domestic abuse in 

5/10 

 

 

18.0 Learning  

18.1 The 2014 publication “A Study to Investigate the Barriers to Learning from Serious 

Case Reviews and Identify ways of Overcoming these Barriers Research” (Rawlings 

et al) examined why the lessons from SCRs across England have not been 

embedded in policy and practice. The report which can be read in full here link 

makes the point that: 
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“Working in the complex area of safeguarding requires all practitioners to have 

exceptional skills that are quite often ‘hidden’ in that they are the results of an 

individual’s values, experiences, training and problem solving attributes that will 

affect the way they interpret a particular child, young person or family’s 

circumstances as harmful and whether they perceive referral to be the end of further 

involvement or a step towards protecting the child and safeguarding the welfare of 

children and families. The focus group discussions demonstrate how inter-

professional, interpersonal and organisational factors in the system are complex and 

influential on frontline practitioners when making crucial judgements and decisions. 

Who listens and who acts? Further research is necessary to explore in more detail 

how decisions are made under pressure, particularly at the point of decision making, 

and why”. 

 

18.2 The 2014 study referred to above identifies three key enablers to embedding  

 learning. These are: 

 Instigate a learning culture that recognises clear lines of responsibility and 

accountability with acknowledgement of professional expertise when making 

judgements enabling flexibility within complex systems.  

 SCR national reports to be refined to ‘learning themes’ with opportunities for 

practitioners to discuss and reflect upon cases in a ‘safe’ environment.  

 Regular and multi-levelled training, (specific to disciplines, across disciplines 

and focussed on key practitioners where appropriate that acknowledges the 

emotional impact on practitioners). 

 

18.3 Useful learning also comes from a 2010 report “Learning from serious case reviews: 

Report of a research study on the methods of learning lessons nationally from 

serious case reviews” (Sidebotham P et al) which states that many SCRs and 

inquiries seem to draw similar conclusions about the systemic and professional 

shortcomings that fail to protect children. 

The authors identified that a number of factors may contribute to this including: 

 The emphasis on learning lessons rather than apportioning blame, whilst 

important, may result in avoidance of serious issues when they do contribute. 

 Professional “blindness” to deeper seated systemic failings; 

 A failure to translate findings into specific, achievable goals. 

 A failure to follow up on implementation of recommendations. 

 Poorly focused reviews. 

 The inevitable timeframe involved in completing reviews and in conducting 

national reviews so that lessons learnt do not lead to timely action. 

 

18.4 The report made a number of recommendations including the following which are of 

relevance to this review: 

 Design and develop evidence-based learning ‘tools’ applicable nationally to 

facilitate collective but also targeted and tiered learning. 

 Learning together - with a strong focus on multi professionalism.  

 Learning for action and in action. 
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 Learning to challenge - learning to ‘think the unthinkable’ including working 

with non-compliant parents/carers; confidence to challenge apparent 

compliance and to ensure all the ‘unseen and unheard’ have been 

investigated for example the ‘hidden man of the household’; child and young 

person; other voices not in the system such as grandparents and neighbours; 

and other underestimated sources. 

 Learning together with and from front line practitioners, strategic managers 

and the third sector  

 Learning through supervision. 
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Appendix 3 

Recommendations 

1. That TBP consider current arrangements and practice for supporting 

professionals with such complex cases and to address the issue of specialist 

versus generic expertise and the time demands in doing this work well 

(learning from “What works” research) 

 

2. TBP should reflect on the evidence regarding enablers and barriers to learning 

and ensure if effectively disseminates the lessons from this review and that 

they are embedded. 

 

3. Considering the learning from this review and evidence research TBP should 

consider the recommendations made by the Centre of Expertise in Child Sex 

Abuse in respect of the effective use of screening and risk assessment tools. 

https://www.csacentre.org.uk/documents/infographic-seven-principles-

recommendation/ 

 

4. TBP should seek assurance that practitioners and managers are aware that 

changes in cultural identity may be a sign of coercion, exploitation and/or 

radicalisation and: 

 Display appropriate professional curiosity to recognise any potential 

risks. 

 Would have the confidence to challenge. 

 Would know how to respond. 

 Would know who else to inform if they suspected this.  

 

5. TBP should seek assurance that the grooming and radicalisation of girls within 

the context of CSE is understood and considered by the Prevent panel 

(Channel Panel) in Bradford. 

 

6. TBP should seek assurance that: 

 practitioners have the understanding that drugs and alcohol are being 

used by abusers within the CSE context. 

 

 appropriate safeguarding leads and relevant practitioners in partner 

agencies know how to respond to children who have been coerced and 

groomed using alcohol and drugs. 

 

 relevant practitioners working in substance misuse services and those 

involved in direct CSE work have regular opportunities to share 

information, expertise and knowledge and ensure a holistic response to 

children who are being coerced and exploited is developed and 

maintained. 

 

7. TBP should seek assurance that the training which was developed in response 

to the 2015 report (Under-protected/Over-protected) which is now provided in 

https://www.csacentre.org.uk/documents/infographic-seven-principles-recommendation/
https://www.csacentre.org.uk/documents/infographic-seven-principles-recommendation/


60 
 

Bradford is effective and reaching all relevant practitioners who come into 

contact with children with disabilities and additional needs. 

 

8. TBP should seek assurance that relevant practitioners recognise that children 

with a disability are at increased risk of sexual abuse. 

 

9. TBP should take steps towards understanding the scope of the issue of 

pregnancy in the district and towards developing responses which provide 

long term high personalised support for the girls (and their children) 

 

10. TBP should seek assurance that the training described in (recommendation 7) 

is taken up by relevant practitioners who have contact with children, and 

opportunities to engage with hard-to-reach communities are maximised 

through schools. 

 

11. TBP should ensure that online exploitation and abuse feature sufficiently in 

training, strategy and planning. 

 

12. TBP should call on commissioners and senior decision makers to rise to this 

challenge and reinvest the considerable costs attached to current provision 

and move towards developing appropriate standard residential placements in 

Bradford District. 

 

13. TBP should seek assurance that:  

 current work taking place to develop a Bradford wide strategy in respect of 

adverse childhood experiences reflects the learning from this review.  

  specifically recognises that CSE is, for many children, a consequence and 

a continuum of early trauma and abuse and that CSE does not happen in 

isolation.  

 

14. TBP should ensure the data collected by agencies about the perpetrators of 

CSE, and research is effectively used to inform practice and strategy. 

 

15. TBP should seek assurance how general preventative multi-agency activity can 

be undertaken, particularly within the night time economy and around CSE hot-

spots and locations of risk. 

 

16. TBP should seek assurance that current interventions and responses 

recognise and address the potential long-term impacts of CSE and health and 

well-being. 

 

 

17. It is recommended that TBP engages with the Home Office seeking to promote 

that the good progress made in decriminalising children who offend in the 

context of CCE should be extended to CSE.  
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18. TBP should assure themselves that there is sufficient provision planned within 

the SEND sufficiency plan and the School Sufficiency Plan to enable the 

delivery of adequate special and mainstream education places for pupils of a 

statutory school age.  

 

19. TBP should seek assurance that appropriate action is being taken to improve 

the attendance of children who are persistently absent who are known to 

children social care. 

 

20. TBP challenge partner agencies to demonstrate that there is a system wide 

approach to jointly commissioned, long term provision which ensures effective 

holistic and therapeutic support to those subject to exploitation. 
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Appendix 4  

Summary of CSE progress in 2020 

 

In November 2020 the Safeguarding Partnership presented a summary of progress to 

the Council Executive  

 

This annual report is presented to the Council Executive, Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

and to the District’s Area Committees regarding the issue of Child Exploitation (CE). It 

focuses on the strategic response to all forms of exploitation in children and adults and how 

partners work to drive improvements across the district and how the TBP holds agencies to 

account for their work in their area. The report outlines how partners have changed practice, 

against learning and local and national best practice.  

 

https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=7339&EVT=105 

 

The report sets out the multi-agency arrangements which are outlined earlier in the review.  

 

The action plans for ‘Autumn’, ‘Jack’ and a further action plan from the MASH Review were 

amalgamated into a single plan, which initially totalled over 50 pages with oversight through 

the CSE & Missing Sub-Group of the BSCB. The plan was subsequently refined and 

streamlined into the 2021/2023 CSE Action Plan. TBP recognised the wider emergence of 

criminal exploitation resulting in the widening of the CSE/Missing sub group into a Risk & 

Vulnerabilities in Complex Safeguarding sub-group and now is a joint group linked also to 

the Safeguarding Adults Board and the Community Safety Partnership. (This sub group is 

now called the All – Age Exploitation sub group and is chaired by a senior Police Officer) 

 

The 2018/19 CSE action plan was also extended, recognising these changes.  

 

Communication and awareness raising is a focus across ‘Autumn’, CSE Action Plan 

(2018/19) and Council Executive report (2020). The creation of district’s Communications 

and Engagement Group is a positive function to engage with key stakeholders.  Whilst it is 

not clear if the work with localities is embedded, there is evidence that the work of Trusted 

Relationships, Breaking the Cycles and Youth Services is well established in providing a 

valuable link with children, parents and communities.  Of note, since 2015, the Bradford 

Police Cyber Team has delivered training to 153, 000 children, 22,000 members of the 

community and 9,000 parents. This work also provides strong evidence of progress against 

the recommendation in ‘Jack’ SCR of technology-based abuse. Elected Members receive 

awareness training around CSE, this is mandatory and takes place internally. 

 

There is recognition of the importance of engaging with hard to reach and emerging 

communities, and whilst the positive work in Keighley is evidenced, the links with other 

ongoing strategies and work-streams does not appear to have materialised and has been 

hampered by the challenges of the Covid pandemic which required agency partners to focus 

on these urgent demands and resulted in the Partnership Sub-groups being suspended 

https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=7339&EVT=105
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between March and September 2020. Given the diverse nature within Bradford further work 

would be of value.  

  

Multi-agency training for practitioners’ complements awareness raising with parents and 

children. As expected, training threads through all the reports and the Safer Bradford 

website outlines the training offer, which is an established service. The CSE action plan also 

recognises the importance of training parents and children, and this has been achieved 

through the awareness raising, Police Cyber Team and other initiatives such as Trusted 

Relationships.  

 

In a similar way the plans identify the importance of practice and procedures. All plans 

include this principle and there has been positive progress around information sharing and 

linked consent and thresholds (now Continuum of Need). The Council Executive Report 

(2020) describes the use of the most recent Child Exploitation Protocol and Risk 

Assessment Tool. Scrutiny and auditing are recognised within the action plans, but the 

detailed case audit found that while there were high levels of compliance with policy and 

procedures there were inconsistencies in assessments and care plans which indicates that 

whilst the procedures have been developed, the quality of practice requires further work.  

 

The action plans recognise the importance of Education and the actions in ‘Autumn’, CSE 

Action Plan and Council Executive Report evidence strong links with Education, mainly 

through the Local Authority Safeguarding Education Team. The Section 175 Schools audit 

provides a tool to retain oversight and assurance around CSE training and on-line threats. 

The development of preventative work through the Trusted Relationship initiative again 

brings the focus into schools.  

 

Improvement in the availability of therapeutic services and remains incomplete in the CSE 

action plan 2018/19. The sustainability of a long-term provision is recognised as a risk. The 

Local Authority were identified in the action plan as responsible for progressing work, but 

there is no positive outcome to date. The work of Trusted Relationships does provide 

therapeutic support and the Council Executive report evidences positive outcomes but it 

does appear limited against the demand and is an isolated response within a commissioned 

service whose future is uncertain. Moving forward there needs to be strategic oversight of 

the required services and how these will be provided, i.e., through established services or 

commissioned services. The challenge has been the sustainability of this type of service and 

in light of the emergence of wider exploitation and increases in demands this will be an 

ongoing challenge.  * Mapping existing therapeutic services has commenced with the All-

Age Exploitation Sub Group (February 2021). 

 

Partners recognise the importance of information sharing to inform assessments and profiles 

and aspired to develop multi-agency activity through the established processes with wider 

locality-based model. Work around multi-agency assessments and profiles was progressed 

through the CSE group but was based around police and CSC data. The MASH evidences 

good partnership working and information sharing but it is not clear if the locality approach is 

embedded within community teams, who understand CSE, hot spots and contribute to 

prevention work and information sharing. The plan recognises the loss of resource around 

night time economy and linked businesses albeit the Police have undertaken initiatives. 

Profiles would benefit greatly from wider partner information in addition to the Police and 
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Children Services, although the Council Executive Report reflects that education information 

is now shared to inform thinking. Building upon existing structures is logical and national best 

practice recognises assessments should include as many sources as possible. Partners may 

wish to consider current effectiveness and what more can be done to progress.  

 

In summary, policies reflect national standards and are reviewed by the safeguarding 

partnership regularly.  A specific Partnership Sub Group focusses on multi-agency policy 

and practice in respect of sexual exploitation and revised standard operating procedures 

were put in place across agencies during 2019. The BSCB coordinated CSE activity through 

the CSE sub-group for a number of years. In 2017 partners recognised the need to separate 

operational from strategic activity and an operational group was formed to focus on multi-

agency policy and practice in respect of sexual exploitation and revised standard operating 

procedures were put in place across agencies during 2019. The group also links with 

national and regional standards and best practice. The group progressed work from the 

strategic CSE group which later became the risk and vulnerabilities group. The group has 

now been mainstreamed into the MACE meeting.  Data is monitored quarterly and audits of 

practice completed to ensure compliance with practice standards (the latest being in October 

2020). 
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